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[ This "Wewslettor' j a Jolot veunturs by tlie Shropshire Archasclogiesl Soelsty ™
‘end Shrewgbury Musewn, is intended to deep members of the Hoclety and smyone
Cinterested in the local history and archacclogy of Shropshiré in toush with events,
- discoveries and exezvations which take glsce from fime to fims. Since its sucoess
'_will lergely depend upon the oosistmice received fron others, we eppeal to those In
touch with Local historicel and srchoecloglcal discoveriss %o sond us deteils of
these for publication, which iz not intended in any way to btake the ploce of fuller
accounts which may later be published in the Socieiy's Transactions or elsewhore.,

APIUAL BECURSTION. The Annusl Bxcursion of the Socciely took place an Saturdey, 14th
Septenbor, 1957, when a prrdy of ebout {ifty members was conducted by Hr. John R.¥.

Whi%tfield, LL.B. on a tour of the North Shropshire Mr-rohes. Several houses and
fordtiried sites connected with Marchor histeory were visited, including the Iron Age
and Reman comp =% Negscliffe, the significance of which was desoribed to the party
by Miss L.T. Chitty, O.B.B., Hede, FoSuAs  Hardwick Hall, the 47th century "Barogue"
mension of the Kynaston family, so intimately comnccted with the hictory of the
Worthern ierches, vos also visited and fez vias taken at Fllesmere,

LEA CROSS EXCAVATICNS, 1956~57. A small teen of workers under Dr. ‘AJY.J. Boughton
has, during the pest two years, been excavating
the site =2t Lea Cross in Fontesbury parish whers a Roman villa, with a tesselated
.,,.xzfvement in one room, was fourd in 1793. The digeing had to be sbandoned. this
Tumer when sewage from nearby buildings seepsd inte the site, and Dr. Houghton has
kindly supplied the follewing repcrt on the execavatlons.

"Lea Cross is a hamlet situated ncar the Rea brook five miles H.¥., off Shrews-
bury. Here in a field, at an altitude of 250 feet zbovs ssa level and sheltered to
westward by a low ridge s mosaic pavement 14' sguare was discovered in 1793 and a
. brief note appesred in the Centleman's Magasine.(4) The engincer, T. Tellord made
~a drawing of the pavement {2) which has been reproduced in the Viectoris County
History of Salop (3). Unfortunately no plan or sketch of any sort was made and
apart from the brief description quoted above no record remains.

- In the early Summer of 1956 on endeavour vwas made to lcocate the site of the
- ailding,  The remains of drossed stone walls were found at modern ground level
dng from beneath & hedge bank for a distauce of L feet to NE and SE respeciively
djacent to the N, wall a trench was cut. The wall was fomd e conbtinue for a
“ distence of 9 fest at which point it was robbed down to the footings, which
~ made a right-angled cormer with traces of another wall going to the S..
rished cement floor was found conbiguous with part of the E, extremity of the
sing of the welli. The whole area was coversd with shout a foot of unstratified
sle contoining tesserae, wall plaster and fewgments of roof tileg. 1% is possible
b this layer was the result of the efforls of the 18th century excavators who had
v .dently spread their spiil neep evenly back over thelr trenches, thus producing a
sort of flat platform about 4O yards squars.

The cement floor was exposed for a total area of aboubt 14k square feet. In.
this N. part = shallow ftrench 4! wide was fowmd runping N. to 3. znd a gircular pit
2% in dismeter and 9" deep found. These featurcs appear to be contemporary with the’
floor and in the trench an iren fraguent wos found which seemed to be part of a
collar such as was used to Join lengths of wooden pipes.

In 1957 efforts wers made to locate the boundarics of the building snd to this
end trenches were cut sbout 30 feet to the east of the excavations already referred %o.
At o depth of 4' the dig was hempered by the prosence of a sewage effluent which
ceme from some houses on the low ridge to the W. bubt a pitched stone floor wes found,
covered by a thin layer of rammed clay. To the N. this adjoined a wall of roughly-
dressed stones set in ramed cley running SW to NE. Lorge quentities of burnt wood
and cinders were found in this area and the impression gained from the necessarily
curtailed dig was that a building of simple construction had been burnt dovm and that
there was evidence of rebuilding., The potitecy, both stratified and wmstratified,
was of the second hald of the 2nd century. No coins were discovered. Owing to the
sewage contaminaticn the dig had perforce to be sbandoned and the trenches were
filled in. ‘

Conclusicns. The evidence of the mosaic pavement and the hypocaust found in 1793,

together with the outhuildings fourd in the present excavations suggest

the presence of a farmstead of se coanfont snd moderabe pretonsioms. At Cruckton, (k)

sbout 1% miles down the velley towards Shrewsbury another simple building with a

bath suite was excavated by ¥iss E. Sladdin in 1952-4, and there is evidence that

at Whitley in the same valley shout a further 17 miles in the Shrewsbury direction

is snother Roman site (5). The latter it is hoped to survey and investigate in the
ming Winter, :




2

Those three siltes are within easy reach of cach cther and of the great public
road runing W. from Vroreber to Casrevs, and the Lea Crose site has direct
coxmnmicaticn by means of what mzy be & secondary Ronon road going from Stony
dbretton via Lea Cross, Duxfords Green, Hunger BAILL snd ALlPield to Wroxeter.
Therlks are due o Hr. C0.h. Peckett, Hel., Pl Barker, T.0, Vright, J.A. Jerman
and to sixth form boys from the Priory 3chocl, in perticular R.V. Buekley, M.R.
Wells and D, Hughces. The pottery and other objects found, together with sections,
pland end photogrurhs will be deposited in kovley's House Musewun, Shrewsbuny.
References: E?) Gentlomen's Megazine, 1793, i, p.1144.

2) Telferd. Autobiograpny (4828) p.23-25, plate IV. ,
(3) Viotorie County Hiztory, Shropshire, v.l. Be258, fig. 3k
EL], personsl communicafion, Wiss E. Sladdin.
5

Shropshive Holes and Cucries, Aprdil 1593.
EXCAVATIONG AT ULTINGTON,  Bxcavations sre progocding al a zuspectsd me
) at Uppington under the leadersbily of ir As Barker,
snd further help would be welconed, The gite is about helf-way between Uppington
and Charlion Hill, and cen be wéxched from the 45 rosd via Uppington village
It sonsiste of a roughly circuler ditoh enclesing an arca of about 3 acres.
Mediasval potvbery snd wull plaster hove been plcked up on the site, and a road has
boen discovered on the outer edge of +the ditch, which is in process of being
ssctioned, The gite is comnected, in & way not yet clear, with Wombridge Priory,
23 18 o complex of earthuorks on the Bell brook, halfl a nile sway. There ig a
_sood deal of survoying and soil resisbtmice mensuring, as well as excavating, to be
done, and help in any of this vork will be most welcome. Will those interested
Please contach Mr. Pohe Barker, 2a, The Fricry, Shrewsbury. It may be possible to
offer transport fron Shrewsgbury, and with prior notice buses will be met at
Uppington $urn.
LLANYMYNECH HTLL. Iir. T.7. logers, of Cluntworth, Oskhurat Rd, Oswestry has kindly
gsent the Following account of recont excavations undertaken by
the Oswestry Avchucology Resesrch (roup at Llanyoynech Hill. '
"Llenmymynech Mill is a prominent fosiure of north-western Shropshire, although
the hill jtself is partly in Montgomeryshire. It has long been the scene of mining
for “mper and lead, probebly from Romen times, but there is cvidence of occupation
considor@ly before that pericd. The southern end of the hill (roughly the part in
Wontganeryshive ) is defined by the innermost rrmpart of an Iron Age camp which
encloges merc than 1)0) prmaa, on st llyg Fenge smew fex sueh oo ocamp.  Two inturned
entrances can be traced on the N. and NE. sides. On these sides, two, aud in places
three, additional ramparts can be traced. These, together with an outwork on
Elodwel Rock, are in Shropshire. An interesting Jescripbion or this comp and its
relationshiv to Offa's Dyke, the Line of which algo runs along the western edge of
~ihe hill, can be found in Srchaeclogia Cembrensis, 1926, pages 395-400. There is,
however, evidence for much carlier occupation although this is no longer visible,
Bdward Lhwyd's "Parochislia" contains a reference to, and a drawing of, a cromlcch
which existed there at the ¢nd of the 17th century. This cromlech is meuntioned also .
by later cbservers but it was desiroyed by local tressure-seskers towards the end of
the 18th century. These references uufortunately give no precise record of its
position, the best being that it was a 'bow-shot’ from the "Ogof", which is a
well-knowm opening in the hillside leading to undergrownd galleries. from which
minerals have been extracted. A :
- Last year Mr. Graham Webuter suggested to the Oswestry "Research Group”
the desirsbility of a study of the hill with its potential wealth of archeecloglcal
information. The group hed olready hed their attention directed to ome site,
gbout 80 yards from the Ogof, which was known to some locel inhabitants as the
"Giant's Grave", This consisted of a long, low ridge which might possibly represent
5 much eroded long barrow or give some clue to the wheresboubs of the lost cromlech.
The site is that marked on the 6" C.S. map by the figures "300" which actually fix
the position of. =2 nearby firing point on a former rifle range.
During the past few weeks a set of trenches on the crest and sides of the
ridge have proved that it is a grass-covered naturel ridge of rock, but a couple of
treriches ot the southern end disclosed that an irregular hollow nearly four feet deep ~
had at some time been cut into the rock. It was obviously essentizl to empty this
to meke sure whethew it had any archasological significemce and this has recently
been completed. It seems certein that it is of comparatively recent date. No
artefact of ony kind was found. A few bones from the upper levels of the filling
of this holiow have, by the courtesy of Mr. L.F. Cowley of the National iuseum off
Wales, been found to include perite of bonss of sheep, ox and horse, the estimated
height of the horse being zbout 125 heada.  4g thin agte wes in Weles, advantage
was taken of the recent meeding of the Cembrian ;"n._.z*:‘:l‘aciolggic:ﬂ_ Assoclation at Bala .-
%o seoure a visit by D. H.N. Sevory and Mr. A.H.A. Hogg, ond they agreed that the
hollow had no feature of archaeological indsrest., An inspection by a quarrying
expert has been arranged, and further work on the hill will be carvied out.
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YARCHESTER ROLUNO-BRITISH VILLA.

By W.A. Silvester, M.Sc., P,S.A.(Scot).

The Ordnance Survey, in the booklet of the Map of Roman Britain (3rd ed. 1956)
lists Yarchester - Grid Reference 8J (33-) 6000 ~ under "other substantial buildings®,
and so indicates it on the map itself. But Mr. Rivet, of the Ordnance Survey, could,
for himself (Archseological News-Letter, 1955, 6, pages 32 and 54) call it a
Gornovien villa, of which, he said, there were only eight, mostly poor things.

Yarchester, in fact, more than some of the others, was a villa by swmise.

Until 1955 there had been no surveying in detail of the site and no recorded
excavation, but many visitors hed found pieces of roofing tile and potsherds, and
there is a literature, up to 1908 conveniently condensed in the Shropshire Victoria
County History, with swme later records in, e.g. the Transactions of +the Caradoc and
Severn Valley Field Club. One writer, impressed by the wide scatter of potsherds,
etc. thought that the place might even have been a small town.

There has been suame confusien as to whether the vestiges pointed %o a site in
Harley parish or in Much Wenlock parish, or in both. Two fields on the Wenlock gide
of the boundary were named by the Tithe Camissicners ag "Hairchegter" and "Upper
Hairchester". The now accepted name is that picked up, doubtless wverbally, by the
QOrdnance Surveyors in 1833, there being at that time a 'crofter' dwelling on what is
clearly the true site. This dwelling is named, on the 0.8. 1" map of 1833,
"archester Cot". The last plecss of {imber frun this cot were removed within the
lifetime of the grandfather of a loecal resident.

Survey and exploration were, with the kindly permission of Mr. J. Griffiths, of -
Harley, begun in the sumer of 1955. Fragnents of tegulae, potsherds (no early Samier
and screps of stone roof shingle, identical with that at Wroxeter, were found. The
tooled stone in scattered lumps was found to be not the near-by limestone, but sand-
stone eventually identified as Kenley grit. Spring 1956 was good for mcles; soon
three cbloeng areas of closely clugtered molehilis, rich in fragments of roof tile
stone and even potsherds, all in a little plateau, became distinet and were mappeds-t. .
At the NE corner of this plateaun a welling stone was found teo be part of a wall
corner. The wall was at least four courses desp and 30" thick, with a typicsl Roman

- plaster floor inside. : ¥

For 1957 a scheme for Joint work was arranged with Mr. J.L. Edwards, of the Much
Wenlock Seccndery Modern school and his colleague, Mr. J. Corbett, on their initliative
Teams of staff and senior pupils have joined in two digging campaigns (Spring and '
Summer), The first, beginning with exgploratory shallow trenching, led to the
uncovering of, in all, about 150 feet of foundation or boundary walling. This was
duly measured, mapped and covered up again. The site thus clearly outlired, about
60 x 30 yards, wae evidently that of a medium-sized villa, with buildings round a
vard, and the superior stonework of the southern block, as well as the indicated
lay=-out, suggested that the regidentisl quarters were in this southern building.

In the Sumer 'dig' an explorsiory hole on a line of distinguishably scorched
turf exposed not only the south well of this building but a tesselated floor within,
of a room eventually found to be about 19* sguare. The scil above this floor, about
2' deep, contained large clumps of stone roofing, scme of the shingleg having iron
neils still in their holes. As the floor was cleared there was imcovered a guilloche-
patterned mosaic within a wifle border of large tesserae. Ther, surprisingly, a 42'
dismeter semicircular alcove projeciing from the south wall was opened up. A phobo-
gragh of the almost undamaged mosaic in this alcove hag appeared in the local press.
This mosaic is of much beauty, the tesserae (cubes sbout " square) are of brick,
narble and various kinds of limestone, giving patterns in white, red, brown, green
and blue. The mosaic in the main room is much damaged by subsidence and falling roof.

Almost no charceal has been found, nor is there other evidence of destruction of
the house by accident or viclence. Potsherds so far found, mostly at the XW cormer of
the site, in a rubbish tip (?), indicate occupation already sbout A.A. 200, and the
one ooln so far found is a smeall bronze of Constantius IT (A.LD. 353*360’). Same of the
pottery iz also gbout this date. '

Bverything so far discovered fits into the general picture presented by Sir
Mortimer Wheeler in his Nomen Lockyer lecture of 1937. There is even, perhaps, 2
glimmer cf evidence of hard times before the building was finally deserted: a humen
nolar tooth, ground down olnost to socket, was found in the out-throw sbove the mosaic.
A “skeleton of aged femsle, teeth ground down to socket" was found, as a Christian (2)
burial, in the villa at Llantwit Major {(Nesh=Williems, Arch. Carbrensis, 1953, _19_2-,

page 105).
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DESERTED MEDTAEVAL VILLAGES. 3

Lo The lagt few years have seen intensive investigation into lost or deserted . -
o sdiaeval village sites in England, and the Deserted Mediaeval Villages Resemrch
7 oGroup has for sane years been colleching and correlating information and arranging
7 for the investigation and excoavation of memy of these sites. Shropshire has not yet
caze into thege investipgobtions in any detail, and Meurice Beresford, in his "Lost
Villages of England®™ mentions only one site, that of Caus Castle where a Survey of
1540~1 shows 9 burgages still cccupied ond 24 decayed {S.4.T. LIV. 1951-52, DeuH-68).
Shrepshire lies, for the most part, outside the area where extensive depopulation
occurred in the late Middle Ages, but it is thought nevertheless that there are
several places where investigation miyght reveal o habitation site in the Middle Ages
which is no longer oceupied, and this is at present being done at at least two of the
sites listed Pelow. It has been fashionable, in the past, to ascribe the depopuiation
of villages to the ravages of plagues, especially the Black Death, but this, as lr.
Beresford points out, is an overesimplification of the problexn. :
The following list purports to be no more than a list of sites in the county
which might bear further investigation, and whose exact status needs to be checked.
Turther deteils of these, or of any other possible sites, will be welcomed by the
editor. There is urgent need at the present time when information on Deserted
Villages sites is being built up, for local correspondents to make quick visits to
a larpge nuber of sites to see if there are any esrthworks visible and if so to define
their extent. More detailed plotting can then await the results of these preliminary
surveys.

AMASTCN, NG 378143, The site of this settlement, shown on Morden's map, 1695, is

T now marked by Heath Farm, about 23 miles E. of Halfwsy House in the parish of

Alberbury with Cerdeston.

ALPERBURY., NG 383152, The site of Woodnmere or "Wytmere", mentioned in a mid-13th
century deed belonging to Alberbuky Pricry, has been identified in a field

between Eyton's Gorse and the Severn.

CAUS CASTLE. A well authenticated mediseval village, sited in the outer Dailey cf the
Castle. It was granted = weekly market by King John in 1200, but was much

decayed by 1387. For further information see the account by Miss L.F. Chitty in the

Programie of the Annual Meeting of the Cambrisn Archasclogicel Assoclation, held in

Shrewsbury, August 1954. NG 337078,

COLD WESTCN. NG 550831. This village has not diseppeared, but it much diminished fran

former days, and there was once =« woollen mill there.

CCLEHURST (SUTTCN-CN-TERN) NG 662313%. Mr. R.C. Purton (S.4.T. v.48, 1935-6, Pebl)
-~ suggests that Colehurst or Coulshurst Menor is the ancient manor of Corselle,
which Eyton placed at Cross Hills in Hinstock. Colehurst was cccupied by the Barker

farmily until the 17th century.
CONDOVER. NG 493%3056. According to Miss H.M. Auden, the cold village was sifted near
the Cound brook between Condover Bridge and the weir, where a mill existed
until the 419th century.
HARDWICK. '0ld Herdwick' (NG 36734%4) is = possible DMV site, which mey possibly have
some connection with the dispossession of Welshmen noted under Cld Marton.
HARDWICK GRANGE, near Hadnell. NG. 518214. Evidence of a settlement ot Hardwick
Gromge, 1 mile N, of Hadnoll, is said to be visible on aerial photographs,
but I hove not verified this.
HAUGHTCN, neor Hadnall, NG 553165. Mediaseval mills and fishponds, discovered a few
years ago, have recently been surveyed by Dr. A.W.J. Houghton, of Fulverbatch.
HEATHWAY. NG 284036. ZEyton (/ntiquities, v.11, D 115-6) mentions houses in ’
Hathway, Holwey, Heywey, Hegway, etc., during the 13th century, amd also
refers to "Morton juxta Haothewildeford® in the fee of Montgomery (Cel Ing. P.ii. vet.
p.49). At this time it was evidently o thriving settlement and its site, under
Marton Mouwntain, is now marked on the Q.8. map by an isoclated farm called The Beeches.
The mzp elso shows an old ford on the Lowerfield Brook below the Deeches.
HUMFHRESTOY. NG 816050, There are Hwc noated sites at Humphreston, near Denington,
Albrighton, one adjacent to Humphreston Hall, the other a short distance W.
Arcund these may have been a considerable settlement in the late Middle Ages.
MARTON. NG 351342, No direct evidence of g former village apart from the nemes Cld
and New Marton., ir. T.W. Rogers, of Oswestry, has visited the site and made
enquiries without success and nothing suggesting former ccoupation has been turned up
by the plough. Eyton, however, sppears to assune {v.10, p.243=k, 254) that this wes
the mediseval 'vill' of Merton in the manor of Ellesmere. In 1280 it was held by
Welskhmen, who Joined Llewellyn in rebellion against Edward I and were ejected, the
estate being conferred on Philip, son of Robert de Say in 1284, The conversion from
a settlement to =2 perscnal estate probably dates from this dote.
PITCHFORD., NG 527042. According to the lote Mr., W.J. Slack, the mediaeval village
" lay in the fields below Pitchford Hell, though no remains are now visible.
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SIBBERSCOT. NG 427077. 4 hamlet in Pontesbury parish which has declined, Miss 7
tv 0 Auden reports that it had 5 tenants in 1327, but in 1610 only three '

houses are recorded.  Nevertheless it appear on Speed's map of that date. . Today

it is an isolated settlement off the main road, approached by seversl footpaths.

SIWALDSTCN. Exact site to be identified. ILyton (veVIII, p.28i) says that it

rrobsbly lay behtwesn Aston =nd Rushton, but the Rev. R.C. Purton

(8.4.7, ved8, 1935-3¢, pe6l;) suggests that it may be equated with Cherlton Hill

in the parish of* Uppingbon, with !'Snalston's Hill' as an intermedfate form.

Messrs. Barker and German of +the Priory Boys' Schocl, Shrewsbury, are at
present investigating a site of some three acres, surrounded by & ditch or moat,
Just below Charlton Hill, which may prove to be the site of Siwaldsion. - Finds so
far have been limited to late mediaeval pbotiery, but Siweldston may have been
occupied until Richard Jenkins built the house kmown as Charlion Hill » Ge 1660,

In the Middle Ages, Siwaldston was & member of the important mancr of Eyton-on-Severn,
STANCHESTER. Another site, referred to in several mediseval documents, which cannot
T now be traced. It would appesr to have been in the vicinity of

Berrington and Eaton Mascott, and possibly Raman in origin. Dr. A.W.J.Houghton

is endeavouring to locate the site. '

STOCKET. NG432307. Qne of the lcet townships of Cockshutt, but formerly a member

T of Ellesmere. It was formerly co-extensive with Lhe townships of Whattall

and Kenwick, but is now denoted only by the site of an old fort between Crosemere

and Whattall Moss. The nome comes from OF stocc, 2 tree or stump, and perhsps

denotes & settlement built up on 'stocks', which would be necessitated by the marshy

nature of the ground. _

STOW.  Two sites of deserted mediasval setilements have beecn +entatively identified
by the Rev. J.C. Williems, formerly vicar of Stow, near Bucknell.

One of the towmships of Stow listed in 1341 is '"Thorneton' which Mr. Williams

equates with 'Tornett', a locel name recorded cn the 0.S. 6" map for a wooded place

between Stow and Weston, where he found evidence of some sort of a settlement.

NaG. 320734,

The second site is that of an -old church, burial ground snd possible settle-
ment on the Stow side of the Clun parish boundery, near Five Turnings (NG 286?55).
This is merked on the Lurkenhope Enclosure map of 1854 as 'ruing of an old church! .
but ell traces have now disappeared » and of any surrounding settlement. 01d
residents cling to the traditica of such = settlement at this spot, which is known
as 'Goreham' from OF. gara and hamm, "the settlement by the tiiangular piece of Land®,
which Ffits the topogrsphy.

WHITLEY NG 455094, Remains of buildings have been found in Chapel Field . Whitley,
near Annscreft, but these have never been fully investigated or described.
(See Sh. Votes =and Queries, 1h.l.1893)
WICHERLEY. NG 591092, The site of the "Grange of Wycherley" mentioned in several
deeds in the Cartulary of Wombridge Priocry has recently been identified at
Uppington by Messrs. Barker and German, and fuller details will be published laber.
WILLEY. NG 6639946. 4 smell settlement is indicated in Willey Park on a 146th cent.
' estate map, near Hangster's Gate. This prcbebly dates from the develcrment
of furnaces and ironworks in this area in the 15th and 16th centuries.

- e we E e MM e me e e

NOTICE COF BXCAVATIONS. If 211 those who wigh to teke part in or be informed of
excavationg in the Shrewsbury srea will send their names and

addresses to Mr. P.A. Barker, 2a, The Priory, Shrewsbury, they will e kept

informed of excavations and other archaeological activities in the area. Particulars

of' these will algo be published from +ime to time in this Newsletter.

UFPINGTCN.  Mr. Barker also reports that work is continuing on the earthwork at

Uppington (Nat, Grid ref. 593087) and further help will be weloamued.

For particulars of dates, times, transport, etc. please contact Mr. Barker at

the above eddress. '

THE TOLSEY, LUDLO7.  After comsidersble discussion and consulbaticn between the
several interested parties, the Salop County Council have

signified thelr intention of proceeding with the proposal to demolish the Tolsey

at Ludlow in order to relieve the traffic congestion in the town. Opponents of the

scheme claimp that this will merely touch the fringe of the problem which will only

be sclved by a Worth~South bypass round the town. Ludlow Town Council have written

to the Ministry of Transport agsin protesting against the scheme and a1l M.P's for

the county have been approached. The Shropshire Archasological Scciety has ™

pronised the Ludlow Council its full support in any action it may taks to preserve

this historic building.

The January meeting of the Shropshire Archascological Society Councill will
be held in Riggs Hall on the 21st Januory at 11.15 a.m. instead of January 7th.
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RECENT CBSERVATICNS AND INVESTICATICNS CF THE ROLIV ROAD SYSTEM I SHROPSHIRE.
ez T3y ?)I". .L.Ln‘. .Jn LlOUL”‘h“LOIl..

(411 map references are to the one-inch C.3. shee ts)
1. ‘JEJLINGTON ares, HATGATI GLCATT .

A pewer trench 14 foet deep and ) feet wide was cub scross the Holyhead Road
and extended for a distance of 70 feet to the 8. in order to reach houses on the
rising ground. Beneaith the modern asphalt layers wos asbout 18 inches of dirty,
stony soll, the stone being mostly 2-3 inch broken fragments. For a depth of
nearky flVU feet below this layer were successive strata of washed gravel and
cobbles, those at the bottom being 9 inches or more in length and wers ramced into
the natural, gandy clay. This ertificial formabtion extended from the edge of the

Ss side wall, across the width of the present road to well into the width of the N.
sidewall. Thsre can be no doubt, therefore, that the Homen road lies directly
beneath the modern road at this point. The rest of the trench in a 8. direction
revealed the natural sandy clay subsoil only.

2. In August 1957 a trench 10 feet wide and 15 feot deep and over 700 yards long
was dug in the fileld adjcining the Holyhead Road on the Scuth side immediately west
of' Haygate, Wellington. The trench ran parallel %o the high-road and at a distence
of ten feet fram the hedgerow. Oniy natursl and undisturbed subsoil wes found along
the entire distonce excavated,

5« The Holyhead Road east of the traffic Lights at the Hadley - Newport road
Juncéion. 664111 to the Cock island, 657114.

A trench 3% feet wide and 7 feet deep extended along this length of the road.
The W. half was on the W. side of the rosd and the E. holf on the 3. side. The
stratification at the Fost end for a distance of sbove 50 feet wes as follows:

1. HMedern aspralt, 9 inches.

2. Cld ilacadam 1 foot.

3. DBroken stone and dark seoil, 1 foot.

« 7 flint and buff-ccloured clay, 3-l. inches.

. Gravel and ? clinker or furnace slag, 1 foot.
« A grey homogeneous mass, 3 feet.

«  Natural reddish clay.

i specimen of layer & was sent to Irofessor Shotbon at the University of
Bimmingham, who kindly examined and reported on it. His finding was that it was
vitrified glass slag. It ig therefore not likely that the Raman road is a53001auea
with this partiovlsr stretch of highroad.

The modern road to Wolverhampbvon immediately after the Watling Street branches
and dips awey to the N. £85108. 4 small sres was opened and the layers were seen
to consist of an asphalt and stone layer 9 = 10 inches in thickness 1lying on natural
reddish clay. ‘

~J oA

4o The triengle of ground between the Lea Drook, ileole Bridge and the new building
catate $o the South. {Centre of Triengle L89107)

Thiz area ig of interest as it is possible that the Romen road from Cacrsws,
via Yestbury and ilecle Brace and afber fording the Rea brook, crossed this piece of
land on the way to ¥Yiroconium. Numerous trenches were cut in connection with
building operaticns, but in none of them was any artifact found and no trace of
any road was discovered. ‘It is proboble that in tine pagt this srea was gubject to
frequent flooding and ail fraces of the road may have boen‘w_Qheﬂ W 8Y «

5. Hecole PBrace - Bayston Hlxl Road. LBB100 - LSG108.

Telephone engineers cut a trench asbout 3 feet decp along the V. side of the
present highroad. Immadlutcly beneath the topsoil a rough, cobbled rosd was found.
The cobbles were all of large size, about 5-7 inches, and loogely thrown down and
fraguents of 19th centwry pottery aﬁﬂ fwo bowls of clag pipes were found beneath
the top layer of cobbles. No smaller stones or gravel were present and this
formation did not possess the features of a Koman road.

6. ieole Lane {now called Stanley Lone). Site of new bungalow on S. side of lane
100 E. of cross roads. 450107,

The layers of a Roman Road were discovered 2 feet below the modern gsurface.
The surface was cembered and was Found to extend bensath the hedge bank and for
fully six feet tc the south.' Evidence of two stages of repalr was found in the
axposed secticnms. e = :




2.

7« Westbury. 35L09L,

In a gerden adjoining and SW of the garden of Erock House is a hollow-way
in direct aligmment with the known Honan road descending the Long Hountain from o
Vermington and the Romen road E. of Festbhury, now represented by the modern highrosci
(This is, in fact, in continuation with § above)

Trenches were cut in the crest and H. side of the south bank going down to
natural subsoil. No trace of a rcad was discovered, although a series of potsherds
from the 47th (or earlier) to the 19th centuries was found. A trench in line with the
ebove was now cut at right angles across the hollow-way, DImmediately beneath the
topsoil was a mixbure of medium and small-sized broken stones, black seil and
occasicnal fragments off sof't brick. This layer was sbout &M in thicknsss at the S.
side and becemse thinner to the N. end of the trenchewhere the ground surface fell
away slightly. Beneath this, at the S. end, large cobbles firmdy rarmed in natural
StifT clay were found. .

' It is suggested that this last layer represents what is left of the Roman rosd
af'ter extensive robbing or erosion, and that the top layers of broken stone were
deposited in mediaeval times cr later. There is a local tradition that the "hollow-
way" was used as a drover's or pack-horse road until well into the 19th century
until the garden of Brook House was exbended so as to cut across it.
8. The Shrewsbury - Ford - ilberbury road. ‘

t has been suggested that this «ligment represents the course of a Roman road.

9. Bicton. 158133, A trench 4 feet wide and 10 feet deep wag opened transversely
across the highroad at this point. It was further extended for a distance of 20
feet across the N. sidewalk into the V. end of the yard of %he Harp Inn. No trace
of any buried rcad swface wag found. Beneath the asphsalt and a layer of dirty soil
end broken stone the natursl subsoil was clearly seen. A further trench wag subse-
gquently opened ftrangversely accross this road at 2o peoint aboub 60 feet to the EZast.
Again no old road troces were rewvealed,

10. Alberbury. 358143 (E. of Park entronce gates) 4 trench seven feet deep was
cpened across the present highroad. No troce of any buried road was found.

11. B3trefford, near Wistanstow. Investigations are proceeding here, as it is thought
that an important Branch read left the Watling Street near this point.

MOATED ENCLOSURE AT WATLING STREET GRANGE, OAKENGATES. By Philip A. Barker,

In December 19%7 it became known, through the County Flamming avthority, that
the owner of Watling Street Grange, Mr. B. J. Ward, intended to £iil and level the
moat which lies 100 yerds N. of the farm (NG ref. SJ 722113, 0.5. £" map 363E)

Watling Street grange was one of four known granges of Lilleshall ibbey, the
others being Cheswell, Lilleshall and Wildmoor, and it is mentioned in the Forest
Ferambulation of 1300 (Eyton, vol. IX, p.148) end in the Excheator Inquisition of
1355. No further mention has been found, although the Lilleshall Cariulary, which
is unfortunately not immediately available, probsably econtains further references.

The moat is square and encloses an area of aboutb 1-}; acres. The remains of a
wall of large blocks of dressed sandstone run E-W across the enclosure 70 feet N. of
the south side. The area enclosed by the walls and the moat is level and higher
by about a foot than the general level of the centre of the enclosure., Two short
daye only were avallable for surveying and excavation, and trial trenches were cut
in places as varied as possibls over the surface of the enclosure. Time did not
permit sectioning the moat, which wes waterlogged throughout and would have reqguired
puping. Finds on this occasion were not very significant, consisting chiefly of
fragments of slip-ware pottery and coarse, darke-glazed ware and a number of pieces
of bottles and thin window glass. A clay pipe~bowl was dated by Mr. ReE. Jemes of
Shrewsbury Museu: as froam the period 1681-8, the maker being Morris Deacon.

‘This limited excavation found no structure or finds datable before 1600,
but much evidence of later occupation into the 19th century which would make the
survival of traces of eariier buildings unlikely. The sandstone wall has the
appearance of being original and two or three field,. walls nearby mey well have been
mode of stone rcbbed from within the enclosure, as they are made of similar sandstone
blocks, and are the only walls in the area, the other boundaries being hedges.

Subsequently some medisevel tiles were found by workmen, A whole, stamped
tile covered with pipe-clay and glazed, found outside the ditch has been provisionally
dated c. 1420, while from disturbed ground within the enclosure three incompleste
line~incised tiles were found. A plan of the farm in 1804 shows no buildings outide
the moat, in the position of the present farm, bubt three buildings within the
enclosure, roughly corresponding to the walls found by excavation.

The site is an interesting one and several possibilities suggsst themselves,
and it is hoped that further investigebion may be possiblie at a later date. A
full repert on the site will be printed in the forthecoming issue of the Shropshire
Archesological Transactions.
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SHROPSHIRE ARCHAECLOGICAL SOOIETY.

The Annuel Ceneral Mesting of the Society will be held at Shrewsbury
Castle on Saturdsy, 17th May comencing at 3 p.m. . After the usual brief
Business session there will be & lecture. Dr. R.S. Mott, Superintendent
of the British Coke Research Asgooiation's Regesarch Station at Sheffield
has been invited to speak on some asvect of Shropshire's association with
the early history of the Iron Trade in England, a subject of which he has
made a detailed study. Members, guests and visitors are cordislly inwvited
to this meeting.

The Society is =lso orgenising a visit to the Clun district on Saturday,
31st May, when members will be received by Mr. Tan Hemsr and other members of
the Clun Town Trust at the Clun Museum. It is hoped that the Earl of Powis,
whoe 1s President of the Trust, will be present on this occasion.

It is also hoped to arrenge a visit to Wroxeter on the afternoon of Saturday,
7th June when Sir Mortimer Wheeler will open the new Charles Henry Foyle
Archasologicel Centre, which hes been built on the site for lectures and
for practical work in comneotion with the excevetions.

The first course to be held officially in the Foyle Centre will be a Week-
End School on Romanc-British coarse pottery from the &th 4o 8th June, under
the direction of Grahem Websbter, M.A., F.S.4., with lectures by Dr. Philip
Corder and John Gillam, M.A., PoS.A., which will study the manufacture, use in
dating and regionsl variations of this pobtery.

This 1s but one of a series of extremely interesting and valusble Pield
Courses being held during the Spring and Summer of 1958 af the Field Studies
Centre at Preston Montford, which are desoribed in the illustrated brochure
recently issued by the Centre. Copies of this are aveilsble fram Preston
Montford or from the Director of Exbtra=iural Studies, The University,
Birminghsm 3. ‘

Ancther course involving practical excavation iz that entitled "The
Angl o-Danish Struggle" which will be directed by Dr. F.T. Wairwright, F.S.4.,
Eead of the Department of inglo-Saxon Studies at the University of St. Andrews,
for two weeks, 12th to 26th July. It is proposed %o excavate the remains of
the fortress at Chirbury which is thought to be the fort built by Lethelflaed
in A.D. 915 as a defence against *he encroaching Danes.,

The Course will be treated as a school for training in excavation
techniques as well as for a generel study of the history and archacclogy of
the period, and the two-week course has been so designed that a student may
attend for either or both weeks.,

Then there arc those courses, now an annual institution, for beginners,
intermediate and advanced archasological students, in Romeno-British excavation
technigues at Wrozeter, which will again be directed by Grahem Webster during
the Summer vacation. There is, too, a course on the Identification and Survey
of Barthworks, directed by A.L.F. Rivet, M.A., FiS.A., Assigtant Archesology
Officer to the Ordnance Survey, designed as an introduction to the study of
antiguities through field investigation rather than excavaticn. This will be
held from the 30th August to 6th September.

Another course of more genersl intcerest to historical students is being
organised by the Extra-Mural Department of Briminghem University at Westhem
House, Barford neer Warwick. This is the 7th Annual Easter School of Local
Higtorical Studies from April 41th to 18th under E.R.C. Brinkworth and
W.Es Tate. both names well-known to the student of local history.

NEW RULES OF THE SOCIETY. A special Cenersl %ceting was held in the
Shirehall, Shrewsbury on Saturday, 15th March

to discuss and approve the propeosed new rules as a constitution of the Society.
These rules, altered for the first time Por meny years, bring the Society up-
to-date and into line with similar local societies in other areas. Cepies of
the new rules are avallsable from the Secretary, Silverdale, Severn Bank,
Shrewsbury., ’

The new rule 6 states that "The managsment of the Society shall be vested
in the Couneil, which shall consist of the following: the President, Vice-
Pregidents, Honorery Secretary and Honorary Treasurer, the Shrewsbury Borough
Librarian. the County Avchivist and not more than 12 slected members. The
officers shall be clected at the Armusl General Meeting cn the recommendation
of the Council, but the President and Vice-Presidents shall be elected for five
years and shall te eligible for re-election. Casual vacancies amorigst officers
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shall be provisionally filled by the Council, subject to confirmation at
the next Annual General lieeting. Wembers of the Council (Other than ex-
officio members) shall be elected at the Anrmual Ceneral lleeting. Members

of the retiring Council shall be eligible for re-election and their names
may be proposed without previous notice; in the case of other candidates -

a proposal, signed by four members of the Soclety, must be sent in writing
to the Honorary Secretary not less than fourteen days before the Annual
General Meeting., The Council shall have power to co-opt not more than five
additional members to serve on the Council for the year.® .

o A ma W mm e am mm e e o e

MEDIAEVAL FIND TI7 SHREWSBURY, The scarcity of 'finds' from giftes in
e : Shrewsbury has of'ten been commented - upeon,

and it is therefore gratifying that a most interesting discovery made

recently on the site of the new Barcley's bank building on the corner of

Castle Strect and 3%, Mary's Strcet has came to light. The soil from this

site, below the foundatiocns of the old building which has been sompletely

démolished. wes removed wholesale by a mechanical shovel, so that the chances

of archaeological finds being made was small. However, the contractor

removing the soil for tipping noticed in one load a piece of medideval pottery

which was subseguently brought into Shrewsbury luseum.

It was identified as an incomplete mediasval pot known as an "agusmenile",
which is a kind of horizontal ewer dedigned to hold water and to be uszed for
washing the hends. Such vessels wers extensively used in the Middle fges
amengst the vicher classes for the frequent washing of hands which was called
for before forks came into. general use, being filled with water andpoured over
the hands of diners by a servant during a meel. They are zlways striking
because of their unususl shape, usually an animal or sometimes a might on
horseback. This partiocular specimen seems to have been in the form of =
boar. The head, which also formed the pouring spout, is missing, as are
the beases of the four legs in which it stood, but the body of the vessel,
including the handle, is intact and in a good state of preservation, the -

greenish-brown salt-glaze being very well preserved. '

While such wessels cannct be dsted veryanaccurately it hes been asoribed
by experts from the Victoris and Albert Mussuwm and the British Museum to whom
it has been shown as of about 1500. It Vill shortly be placed on exhibition
in Rowley's House Museum, where it is hoped shortly to arrenge a special
displaey of mediseval exhibits relating to Shropshire. ‘

MEDIAEVAL SITE AT EYTON-ON-SEVERK . On Morday, 3rd February 1958 the Museum
received a telephone call from Mr, T.B.

Beddoes, of Eyton Farm, Eyton-on-Severn, who stated that his men had found

serdstone wall foundations in a field below the farm whilst ploughing the field.

Lrrengements were made to visit the site and on the following day, Mr.
P.A, Barker and Mr. Germsn of the Priory Boys' Schocl, Mr. Grundy of Bridgnorth
and myself went to Byton where Mr. Beddoes =znd his son tock us to the site.

This is the field sloping down fram the farm to the river and marked by a walled
enclosure on the 6" map, 42 SW. In the centre of the field, opposite the
walled enclosure, the scoil had been balckened over a fairly large area and
remaing of sandstone walls had been uncovered below the surface. . The upper
poertion of these foundations is being removed to facilitate ploughing ahd
seeding. A small {ebout 5! x 2?6") bricked pit, about 3! deep was also found,
the top of which was covered by four large slabs. B8mzll pieces of pottery,
glass, etc. were picked up on the ploughed portion of the field where the soil
was derkened. The walled enclosure referred %c is known as the 'Monk's Garden'.
The E. wall of this contains some sandstone built in the brick wall but the
three remaining walls are entirely of brick.

The remains are probsbly those of the country house of the Abbob of
Shrewsbury, which is known to have sttod at Eyton-on~Severn in the Middle Ages.
According to Forrest (01d Houses of Shropshire, D.64=65) the rroperty was
prurchased at the Disscluticn in 1535 by Chief Justice Braziey, whose only child,
Margaret tock it to her husband, Sir Richard Newport. Their son, Fraﬁcis
Newport, bullt a new house on the top of the hill sbout 1580, near M¥r. Beddoes!'
farm, parts of which are still remaining slthough the house was burnt down.
Probably additicns were made %o the Abbot's houss to fit it as a permanent

Zwelling between the Dissoluticn and 1580, which may explain the brickwork
found on the site. It is hoped that excavations may be possible on the
site later on this year. ‘ : T heH.
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YARCHESTER ROMANO-BRITISH VILLA.
A Second Report by Weh. Silvester, K.Sc., FeS.he {(Scot).,

Flan nos1, in Shropshire Newsletter no.2, showed the north and west walls
of a building in an area marked 'B'. That building is now shown on a larger scale
(1" = 20 £+) in the plac annexed to this Report. It will be seen that the building
is alnost certairly = residence of the category known as "corridor house® (ef.
Haverficld, VCH Shrops., 1908, p.212, and Collingwood, AR®, 1930, Ch. VII)

As sald earlier, the exploratory digging so far has mostly been a mere
uncovering of foundation walling. There is evidence of deliberate removal of
stone in past centuries, and not only has the site been +illed but, one is told,
there hes been digging for rebbits. Nevertheless, scme foundetions sre only 8
inches fran the surface. Taking the rooms as nuwbered on the plan, the following
remarks are made:

Room T, The SW corner has 'concrede! fleoor with indications of hypocaust (?)
duct ~ large square floor tiles. (WNote: a few scattersd fragnents of box
tiles have been found herc and elsewhere) This roem has s%ill %o be system-
atically explored.

Rowm No exploration as yet except of smpll area in SE corner - 'concrete!'
floor.

Roam IIT.  Floor completely wncovered in August 1957 and covered up again in
October. losalec in apse almost undomaged., This, and updamaged parts of
mosaic in main roan systematically photographed (some colour transparencies)
and measured. One trial hole in main room showed under %tesserae about LT
of concrete resting on bed of ocbbles. In due course to look for hypocaust
in epse (cof. J. Word, Roman fra in Britain, 2nd ed. 1920, p. 77).

Exmopt for a fow smell potsherds, neils, animel bone fragments and, of
course, masses of roof shingles (and the human tooth slready mentioned)
nothing was found in this roa on its mein floor, but in the alcove resting
at rendan on the mosaic were found a red sandstone flagstone, a piece of red
sandstone colunn (?) and the base of a grey ware pot apparently hand-chipped
to make a disc 5" diameter and %" thick. The residusl walling round the
epse is 15 inches high; at the north side of Roem ITT it is frregularly about
one course, i.¢e a few inches, high, end the present soil surface slopes
correspondingly %o the north.e The walls of the whole rom wers seemingly
plagstered, and coloured in a patiern of the usual tints, but all the coloured
plagter found wos in fragments: no large pleces were found in situ.

Roem IV. In foundation walling on east side, os shown on plan, is a break
which may represent gite of a hearth, Some lunps of vesicular slagey material
were found, also nub-size lumps of charcoal.

Foans V and VI, No exploration yot. The scuth wall of Rocm VI is slightly
out of aligmment with, and so far as visible, less well constructed then the

‘rest of the south wall. Roots of nettles sre very troublescme hereoboubs.

There wos a short school party digging cempeign from Sth to 12th April last,
and ancother similar 'dig'! is planned for August. Mearwhile lir. Corbett and the
present writer comtinue with lccal surface chservation filed work, and with
literature hunting, etec. on constructional matericla.

Acoording to Dr. D. Smith (ANL, 1955, 6, 50) there hove been sbout 360 villa
mosaics recorded in Pritain, and of the few So far doted on extermal evidence nome
is earlier than the fourth century. The present writer, sceing by accident an
enlarged pnotograph of a mosaic in an advertising display in a Londen bank, has
cbtained a photograph of that mosnic, The roundel therein is a little larger than
that in the Yarchester epse, but the cight 'petal' pattern is almost identical
(the neswrest to an equiveient so far found). Dr. Anthony, of the Verulomium Museum,
through whose kindness the photograph has been cbtained, says that beneath this

-+ pavement, found last year, wos o coin of Constantine IT. Henge the mosaic Gannot
be earlier than about AD. 360. This fits the date so far surmised for the peak of
prosperity at Tarchester. As Dr. Smith has said (loc. eit) ultimately we may
discern, fran study of the mosalcs, something of the sizme ond organization of the
firms which laid them. It may perhaps be added that the Yorchester mosalc is +he
largest so far found in Shropshire ocutside Viroconium; in general style, especially
of guilloche patterning, the much smaller Lea Cress mosaic (VCH. Shrops. .258) was
similor and perhaps laid by the same hands, whereas the specimens on exhibition in

| Shrewsbury Nuseurn of corly finds at Vircconmium are mostly more gemetrical, with

g Larger tesserze.

L




YARCHESTER, HARLEY, SHROPSHIRE.
Romeno=~British Villa Site -~ FPlan no. 2a.
Residential Building as explored to May 1958.

Scale: % inch = 20 £t.
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1 6 - 5 . 58 »

Pollowing the publication of the notes on
possible Deserted Medlacval Village sites in
Shropshire in the second issue of this Newsletter, a visit was pald to the county
on May 12th and 13th by Mr. J.G. Hurst, of the M:nlstry of Works, who is also

LESERTED MEDIABVAL, VILLAGES.

Secretary of the Deserted Mediaeval Vl‘ Llage Research Group, and Mr. Maurice Beresford,

author of "The Lost Villages of England® and {in collsboration with Dr. J.K. St.
Joseph) of "Medieval England".,  They were met by Mr. P.h. Barker,iMr. G.S. Garmble,
Mr. Grahom Webster and the Tditor and several of the sites listed in the Newsletter
were visited, commencing with the earthwork at Uppington (S 592086) which, it is
suggested, may be the site of 'Siwardston' and also the possible site of the grange
of Wycherley at SJ 59109, where the mill bank and. pool gite were cbserved and
evidence of mediaeval cultivation was noticed between the Bell Brock and the cold
road to Uppington.

Uckington, a suspected shrunken mediasval vzllage, for which thepe 26 entries
in the Lay Subsidy Roll of 1327, as compared with only 6 for Uppingbon, was next
examined, The considersble ridze and furrow East of the site was noticed and the
rather indeterminate carthworks S. of the present farm were also examined, without
any positive conclusions being dreym. It iz hoped that this provising site, ond
the others at Uppingbon will be given aerial cover in the ncar future. '

Mr, Hurst and Mr. Beresford olso visited Caug Castle and examined the site of
the 'vill' of Caus in the ouber Bailey where oultivation has obliterated the slight
surface traces which wooden buildings might be expected to leave. On the following
day, May 13th they intended to visit sites in the south of the county, sspecially
the two sites of Tornett and Goreham at Stow, on their way into Herefordshire.

(Continued at foot of page L)
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SHROBSHIRE ARCHAROLOGICAL SCCIETY.

./ The Annual Gererel lieeting of the Soclety wes held in the Priory Boys'
whool, Shrewsbury on Saturday, 17th ilay, when the President, Captain Sir Offley
ffakeman, Bt., CuBuE., presided. When the brief business formalities had been
- /ooncluded Dry Rehs Mott, Superintendent of the Midland Coke Tesearch Station at
Qﬁ Sheffield spoke on "The early. Iron Industry®, illustrabing his talk with several
slides and dealing particularly with Shropshire's part in the garly development -
of this vital industry. - o
" On Saturday. 318t May meny mewbers of the Society visited Clun on the
ocoasion of the rewopening of the Clun Museum. The Opening Ceremony was performed
by the President of the Society, Sir Offley Wakeman, who was introduced by Mr. Fao
Lavender, former Town Clerk of Bishop's Castle. Menbers then inspected the luseum,
and after a visit to 0lun. Castle, unfortunately out short by heavy rain, they were
enterteined %o sn excellent tea in the Memorial Eall, by kind invitation of the
Clun Town Trust. After tes the perty visited a tumilus at Newcastle and also
Spoad Farm with its carved timbers and cruck-roofed barn, before re-embarking for
Church Stretton and Shrewsbury. : .
At the first Council Meeting of the new year, held on June Ird, Mr. JeBe
Oldhem, Hehs, FaSehe, was unanimously re-elected Chelrman of the Council.
Dra AJV.J. Houghton was welcomed ag a new member of the Council. The Secretary
reported on a meeting which had been held between menbers of the Councll and
representatives of the local research groups on the 10th Hay when the following
were present - Messrs. (ldham, Beaumon®, Rubter, Hogers, W.5. Davies, G.S. Gamble,
P.A. Barker, T.¥.G. Snape, -C.8. Stenford, G, Webster and Dr. Houghton. The
cammittee had discussed methods by which locsl research groups could became affiliated
to the Shropshire Archaeologicel Soclety and could share in its activities. After
discussion and consideration of the reccmmendations of the sub=~comnittee the
Council agreed to accept the following recamendations - : o

(1) . groups should be allowed to affiliate by means of payment of such sum
as each group would be willing to pay snd thet transactions and notices, ete.
should be sent out in bulk %o each group in the proportion of one copy of each
to each guinea pald. ' o '

(2) Groups should receive the Archasological Newsletter and should be
encouraged to conitribute material for the Newsletter.

(3? Meetings of the Society should be held in parts of the county other
then Shrewsbury. '

(4) Mestings might be arranged at “roxeter for members of this Society and
other groups to explain the scheme of afiiliaticn. This meeting could form part
of a Joint excursion.

Tt wag agreed that the September, December, March and June Council meetings
should be held on a Saturdsy at 11.15 gem. Mr. Graham Tebster, Mr. Ge.S. Gumble,
Mr. PoA. Barker and Mr., J.B. Pilgrim were co-opted to serve om the Council.

4% the July meebting of the Council it waes agreed, after much discussion, to
dhtain estimetes from varicus firms for printing the Soclety's transactions in a
new, and larger, format, The Secretary also reported briefly on the progremme for
the Winter session. It was reporied that Hopton Castle, the condition of which
had glven cause for anxiety, had been repaired by the Ministry of Works. The
Council also decided to ask the Society for Mediaeval Archaeclogy and the Flintshire
Historical Society to exchange publications with the Soclety.

A whole=dsy excursion to Mitchell's Fold, Montgeomery and Chirbury has been
arranged for Monday, 21st July, leaving Smithfield Road by Vagg's bug at 10 « 2.m.
This attractive outing includes a visit to the excavation school which will be
werking on the possible site of Aethelflaed's fortress {c.915 AJD. ) where the
work in progress will be deseribed by Dr. Waimwright, Head of the Depariment of
inglo=Saxon Studies at St. Andrews University, who is directing the survey.
Vembers and friends intending 4o %o on this excursion should notify the Secretary
ag sounl as possible.

A half-day excursion to Wroxeter has also been srranged for Saturdey, 13th
Septenber, when Graham Webster, Mehs, Feduhs, will despribe the work of the School
of Roman Archaeclogy being undertsken there this summer. This excursion will also
ensble members of the Society to mect members of the active local regearch groups
in the county. :
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LOCAL FINDS, | 4

PREHISTCRIC STONE AXE,

Hre. S. W. Bridgewater, headmaster of Ifton Heath Primuary School, near
Cswestry recently reported to Shrewsbury Mugseum the discovery of a pexrforated
stone axe which was found by Mr. Exlvn Davies, of 38, Greenfields, St. Martin's.
It was found at a depth of sbout 3 £%. six inches while digging drains for the
County Agrioultural Committes on ifr. David Jones Evan's faxrm, the Manor Farm,
West Felton, .The implement was handed %o the supervisor, Mr. Johnson and
has now been brought in to the Huseum, where it will be fully drawn and recorded,
The axe is a large specimen, approximately 85" x 34" with a perforation of '
sbout 1%" diemeter. It is hoped that the farmer on whose land it was found
will permit the stone to be sent for retrological analysis, and will 2lso
eventually deposit it in the Shrewsbury Mussum. :

AN QLD WELL,

Fariy in June an 0ld wedl was found in the gorden of no. 14, Claremont
Hill, the house of iirs and Mrs. Denville~Jones, which stands on the left at
the top of +the hill, during alterations which were being made to the house.
A few days previcusly a similar well had been found by the workmen, but this
had been covered by the floor of = new garage. The well was found by ¥r. C.
llathews, the foremsn working for G. H, Bickerton and Sons. It was 50 feet
deep and contained sbout 18 feet of water. The top was covered by four large
stone slabs, and the side of the well, which was circular, was bricked, the
bricks having the appearance of dating from ebout the 17th century.

Three or four large pieces of timber, comsisting of tree trunks sbout
eighteen inches thick were lying in zig=zag fashion down the well to below
the water level., It has been suggested that this is an old tree pump, which )
originally ran up the middle of +he well and which has collapsed against the .
sides in the course of time. Each piece of the tree trunk was Joined to
the one asbove it by a leather valve, and the water was drawn up through the
hoilowed centre,

The well has now been filled up, but the top has been preserved and
incorporated into the garden rockery. Wells were, of course, a common feature
of our cld towns, and ere much camonsr even in heavily built up~areas then
is commonly supposed. They were probably particularly numerous in this area
at the top of Claremont Hill, the highest part of the town, because the pressure
would not allow of a pumped supply from the Conduit Hesd., The well is not
mentioned in the list of wells and borings in the Geological Survey of the
Shrewsbury District (I.:.8.C. 1938, Apvendixz ITT).

RN E o e M B m YR e Em me Er B

RGIAN ROAD SYSTENMS. Arising out of Dr. Houghton's notes on the Romon road systen
- in Shreopshire in the last issue of this Newsletter, the

Rev. Gordon Certlidze informs us *thHat the Watling Street at Wellington lies
imderneath the Cor poark of the Buck's Head Imn, and not under the modern A.5
road at this point. His informent was the Superintendent of the local Gas Works,
whose workmen found 1% during digging operations smme years ago.

ilrs Cartlidge olso reports that he found evidence of a tiled pavenent
and a well within the enclosure at Watling Street Grange, when he was Vicar of
Onkengates a few yesrs ago. He further states that, at the Roman station site
cn the Watling Street nearby workmen found the remoing of a 'watch' tower
and also Roman coins. -

DESERTED MEDTAEVAL VILLAGES (continued)

Another pogsible site has been reported by Mr. Stanley C. Stanford,

TeEehs Tutor-Organiser for Herefordshire and South Shropshire, who visited
Heath Chapel (NG 557856) with his Ludlow Archasclogloal Group on 12th June,
and inspected some intercsting cartiworks there.. There can be no dovbt, he

says, that these represent the site of a former nucleaied settlement, with
evidence of mediaeval cottages and arable strip farming grouped round the chapel
and a moated hanestead. This site would be well worth detailed investigation
at some tinme.
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FLINT THELEENT FRAI SHEL FIELD HILL, SHELVE

This account is condensed from a report received from Miss L.F. Chitty
OuBuEw, ilvA., FuB.A. and relates to a plano-convex flint kmife found near
Shelve on the 26%th iay 1958, the first flint instrument %o be recorded from
the Corndon and Stapeley Hill country, which is relatively rich in other
pre-historic evidence. It was found by K. Ritchie, a pupil of Ash Lea, County
Secondary School, Carlisls, while he wes taking part in a field excursion during
a course at Preston liontford Field Studies Centre, and was found on the surface
on Shel field Hill sbout one third of a mile N.E. of‘ Shelve.

The implement is a plano-convex knife of Ferly Bronze Age type made of
pale, opague, cherty grey flint, of which the source was probably N. of the Wash,
end has apparently been worked from a lenglitudinally curved flake. The central
part of the back shows two long flake surfaces, unworked; the upper part is
lustrous, the Llower chert,;. Both sides have Deen steeply pressure~flaked and
show some secondry trimming; +‘he edges are still sharp but have evidently been
used. The length is 60 mm, the greatest width 24 mm, the maximum thickness 7 mm,
and its welght is just over i oz. The implement is proaabl}/‘ contemporary with the
general culture of the Corndon-Stapeley Hill area, which assignable to the early
to middle Bronze Age, probably during the seccnd half of the second milleniwm B.C.
It is now in the pre—hlstory section of Shrewsbhury I USE .

Miss Chitty has a2lso produced a report on the perforated stone axe~hsmmer
found near “Jest Felton N.W. Shropshire, which was reported briefly in the last
newsletter. She polnts out that while such perforated stone axe—heanmers, of ten
of considersble size, occur fairly frequently =mong the south Shropshire hills
and dales and along the Severn Valley, they are less common in north Shropshire,
and only two, found in gravel at Aston are on record from the Oswestry region.
The find from Henor Farm, West Felton, therefore, is of cutstanding interest,
the more so since it ‘derives from peat and should, therefore, be approximately
dateable,

The implement is fairly large (5.7") and heavy, weighing 3 lbs. 12 ozs.
It is a pale grey stone and was probably originally well ground, though the
surface 1s now uniformmly rough; +two natural grooves cross the butt end diagonally,
with an elongated protuberance down one side, The overall length is 220 mm,
the maximum width is 86 mm across the shaft-hole which was bored from opposite
fades well above the centre of the stone; the mouths are 4O mm diameter, the
centre of the perforstion is %1 mm most of the shaft is nearly oylindrical and
somewhat oblique, with a rough internel surface. The exact site of the find hes
~ been pointed out by ir. W.A. Johnson, superviscr of the workmen who made the find,
and the farmer lir. Jones Evans has ag,reed to present it to Shrewsbury Museum.
It is now being sent to Professor F.W. Shoiton of Birminghsm University for
veltroiogicel identification.

- VOLUNTEER RIFLE RANGE, HENCOTT. ~ On the six~inch Ordnance Survey map, Sheet
LW this 1s merked as a squere 4o the S. of Almond Park Coppice and slightly
to the N.W. of the stream running from the coppice tc the old river bed. From
its appearsnce on the map this has been taken for a possible early earthwork, and
in view of bull~dozing cperations to be carried out in comnection with a0T1cultural
improvements the area was examined in August 1958. On Tisdale's Map of Shrewsbury,
1875 the site is marked as 'Target and butts' and a line rumming from this position
to & spot on Round Hill is inscribed 'Volunieer Rifle Range'. It is similarly
- shown on 2 small map in W.A. Day's 'Observations on the wproposed removal of Shrews-
bury School', dated 1873. It was used as a rifle range within living memory and
examination of the mound showed ail the characteristics of such & range, and there
-was no evidence that the mound wes any other than one art:z.f‘::.cla.lly created to
accommodate the targets for the range.
' The sbove note hag been kindly supplied by lir. R. E. James.
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A Forther gite worth LVen blgating ne o pwsilble deserted mediseval village
has cane to light as a resuwlt of the discovery of an old plan, undated, of the
township of Stitt, in the parish of Retlinghope, in the Mzg., of Thomas Farmer
Dukes, vol. 3, Although the site, on the lower slopes of the Leng Mynd, is
now oceupied by two farms, thers was a church with several cottages surrounding
it in mediseval times. It i too remote to have been s fully nucleated village,
and there is no dircot evidence of an open-field system, but there was evidently
a small settlement clustered round the church,

The towvmahip wias granted to Haughmond Abbey by King Henry IT, and the
ohurch was built about the yesr 1180, the canons having previously had on
Oratory there. The Church did not survive the Dissoluticon, when it passed
to the Grown, and by 1810 =11 trace of this and most of +he surrounding houses
had gone. .

COUNCIL FOR BRITISH ARCHAROLOGY o :

_ The Annusl Report (No. 8) of the Council for British Archaeology for
the year ending 30th June, 1958, has just come to hand smd is well worthy
of study by anyone interested in local history or archasology. It deteils
the progress in regearch Frojects, such as implement petrology, the survey of
remen roads, etc.;  the work of official bodies such as the Ancient Monuments
Inspectorate of the Ministry of Works and the Archaeological Division of the
Ordnance Survey, and also records the asctivities of its Regional Groups and
constituent orgemisations. An interesting short section is entitled "The Groups,
Schools and the general public®, deteiling the public relations werk being )
carried on to further +he already wide~spread interest in archaeclogioal studleé. =
This with other publications of the C.B.A., which include a Calendar of Ixcavations..
and "Current Offprints", is availsble in the Shrewsbury Reference Library. '




COALBROCKDALE CQIPANY

-

- Hext year, 1959, will be the quarter millenary of the successful ineuguration
o+ by Abrahem Darby of the Coalbrookdale iromworks and his discovery of the new method
of coke smelting which, perheps more then sny other single event, paved the way
for the Industrial Revolution Later in the 48th century., This epoch-making event
18 being celebrated by the present owner of the Compeny , Allied Ironfounders Litd.,
by a National iesting to be held in September 1959, probably at Birmingham Uhiv¢r51ty.
The event will also be marked by the restoration of the old Furnace at Coslbrookisle,

rected in 1638 by Sir Dasil Brocke and later used by Darby. Therewill probably
2lso be certain publications concerning the Darby's and the Coslbrookdale Works,
enc the idea of a small museun at the site of the original works has been moote@-
The Shrewsbury Library, Museuns and Arts Comitbee hopes to organize an exhibition
it the Art Gellery showing Shropshire's irportant place in the development of the
iron industry in this country. -

lisny experts in the history of the Irom and Steel industry ave represented
on the Naticnal Committee or are assisting it, including Dr. H.R. Schubert, -author
of the recently published "History of the Bribish Iron end Steel Industry, 450 -
1775"; Mr. T.S. Ashion of lienchester University, who has written several books
on &spects of the Industrial Revolution; Dr. Arthur Raistick, author of “Dynasty
of Irenfounders; +the Darby's and Coslbrookdale®, and Dr. R.A. Hott, supsrintendant
of the Midland Coke Resesrch Station at Sheffield, who has written several papers
deaiing with the early history of coke smelting, ‘

ifuch still remains to be discovered concerning the early years of the Company
and about the Darby's and their assoclates, and also about their forerunners.

The furnace at Coslbrookdale for smelting iron with charcoal had been in use for
zbout 70 years when Abreham Darby T took over the lease in 1708, and had previously
been rented by a succession of irormrorkers. One of these, Shadrach Fox, leased the
furnace for 21 years in 1596. Fox is something of a mystery man, of whom little
appears to be knom. He was baptised at St. Ched's Church, Shrewsbury, on June 7th
1678, the son of Shadrsch Pox, Gent., and Mary, his father being apparently a
member of the Fox Tamily of Muxton in the parish of Lilleshall, Shadrach Fox,
senior, seems to have besn some sort of a spy in the Govermment Service during the
lonmouth trovbles, since in & letter dated February 7th 1684 emongst the Charlton
papers he reports that Willism Leveson Gower of Iilleshall and Willism Forster

of Dothill were malking and storing arms ontensibly to be used in supporting
Heonmeouth's rebelliion. _

Hermeh Rose's account of Abrahem Darby, which is in the Library of the
Soclety of Friends, London, states that Fox junior used the furnace at Coalbrookdale
for making cennon bells, hand grenades, etc. for the Government. Fox had a
daughter baptised at Shifnal in 1493 and a son baptised at liadeley in 1702, .
Hannash Rose states that Fox's furnazce was blomn up ag a result of the river Sevérn
flooding and breaking down the Pool dam at Coalbrockisle and inundating his works.
She infers that this was the cause of his leaving Coalbrookiale. His subsequent
history.is curious = sbout this time Peter the Great was attempting to introduce
the industrial methcds being developed in Test Europe into his Russian Empire,
and his agents visited England to prevail upon skilled men o go to Russia.
Denidoff had built the Neviensky works, probably the first blast furnace in Russia,
for King Teter in 1699 and forelgn iromworkers were particularly in demand. Scme
tine between 1702 and 1708, therefore, Shadrach Fox went to Russia, leaving his
wife and children behind to suffer hardship and poverty, although, according to
Harmah Rose he had received a fortune of £10,000 as his wife's dowry. His wife
Mery is referrsd to several times in the Coalbrookdale accounts for 17 08-9 as
Widdow Fox. Mary Ford, wife of Darby's partner, took pity on her and found her
ezl cyment, : . )

Too little is known sbout many others whe had a hand in the early history
of the iron industry in Shropshire in the pre-Darby period. These include such
men ag Francis Wolfe, who sheltered Charles II after the battle of Worcester in
1651; (Hennah Rose stotes that Wolfe of Madeley carried on the Ccalbrockdale furnace
before Fox) Laurence Wellington, who held the Coalbrockdale forges about 1685;
Thomes Burton and Thomes and John Pate, who were lessees of the furnaces at cne
time. Even the part played in the story by the aristocratic families, the Welds
of Willey, the Prcokes of Liadeley, the Corfields of Pitchford Forge and the
Benthalls of Benthall, has never been fully explored.

It is well-known that Abrahem Darby IIL, grandson of the founder, played
a great pert in the building of the first Irombridge ever erected, and forged the
castings for the bridge at his Coalbrookdale works, What has however never been
satisfactorily established is whose was the original idea to use cast iron in
bridge~building., Was i% Darby himself, John Wilkinson, another famous ploneer
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ironfounder, and one of the original trustees of the bridge, or someore else? .
Two architects, Robert laguire =and Peter atthews, have recently given the
results of an extensive search into this questioh. They discovered in the
Science Museum Library at South Eensington the original designs of Thomas . T
Farnolds Pritchard, the Shrewsbury architect who was cammissioned by Darby Ty
and Tilkinson to explore the possibilitics of a cast irom bridge. They found ]
not only Pritchard's design for a cast iron bridge betneen lisdeley and Broseley,
dated Octdber 1775, but fwo previous designs dated 1773 and 1774 for similar et
bridges. Evidently Pritchard hed, for some time, been conteiplating such a
bridge and 2lthourh his actusl design was not used at Ironbridge (he disd in
1777, before its completion) 1t proves what later authorities, including Samuel
Smiles, have denied, that his plan would have made the fullest use of iron and
would indeed, as authors Haguire and ijatthevs point cut, have been more advanced
snd & more imagindtive structure then the one eventually built, for which Darby
hinself provided the drawings, Their verdiet is that "with the discovery of
the original design, Pritchard is .seen as a pioneer engineer of great intuition,

and the frustration of his cfforts and his Prepature death as a considersble
tragedy®,

SHEEWSBUNY DISCOVERTES

Great interest has been aroused in Shrewsbury recently in excavations
which have been taking plece in Roushill on rroperty belonging to liessrs.
Shulter & Son (Shrewsbury) Ltds , where two houses were demolished during the -
surmer. The dizging has been done by members of the Shrewsbury Archasology
Research Group, lead by Yr, P.A. Barker end assisted by lir. Germem, lir. ReE.
James, Assistant Curatcr of the Hugeum, and helped by schocol boys from +the
Priory School. ’ . .

The excavations have uncovered a hitherto hidden and exceedingly wellw~
rreserved section of the old wall of the town., The Finds, which include
“Pottery fragments from the 13th to 18th centuries and = quantity of leather, -
including a complete shoe &ating from sbout the 14th century and part of a
Jerkin, were exhibited at the pblic meeting and exhibition of "Recent
Archaeclogicsal Excavations in Shrewsbury™ held at the Priory Doys! School
on Saturday Octdver 18th, Plans, seotions and vhotographs of the excavations
were on view, and Mr. Barker and his associates were sble to explain the
Frogregs of the work to interested members of the publice We hope to
publish an interim report on the excavatiens in the next issue of the
newislettor; and slsc a report on the excavation of s medissval motte and
beiley site at Smethcoote by menbers of the Ludlow Archascloglcal Research
Group. :

Further locel {inds have been presented *o Shrewsowry Liuseum recently,
including a small mediseval pot, sbout 5° high, made of oocarse, wnpglazed
eartherware which was found at a depth of sbout 15! 9% during borings made to
test the foundations feor the proposed new Fost Office and Telephone Exchange
Just Lehind the General Post QFFfice on Pride Hill, This was sent by the
Post Office authorities to the Hinistry of Works for examination, but has now
been presented to the Museoun.

During demolition and excavations on the site of the rremises of the
Shrevwsbury Typewriter Co. in Swan il during Auvgust 1958, two large sandstone
blocks, hellowed out in the centre, were found and Passed on to the luseum.
The precise origin and purpose of these has not yet been established. Fragments
of* pottery and old clay pipes, the latter of the 17th century, were also found
on this site, ' ‘

Miss M, Manley of Samerwood House, Uffington, has slso presented to
the Huseun a flint axe-hesd and & stone spindle=whirl which hed been in her
Possession since 1935 when they cames to Llight during plowing operstions. The
axe was found in a field known as CGorsy Lessows on Sunerwood Farm Just south
of the Roddington Road 2nd the spindle-whirl in a field alrost opposite to the
north of the road., It is gratifying to think that these finds, made more than
20 years ago have been vlaced in the safety of the Museum and not became lost
as it is feared happens to so meny similar finds.

k.
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%/ ALAVATTCONE AT ROUSLIJL, SﬁREWSBURYg 1958, By Pe.d. Darker.
A% "

At the beginning of September 1958 two houses in Roushill, Shrevsbury were
demclished snd, since they were seen to be on the probable line of the Towm Wall,
the "owners of the property, lMessrs. Shukers Ltde, were asked for permission to
excavate on the site. This wag readily granted and work began on the &th Sept.
and continued intermittently until the end of November, '

SUMDLATY
There is ample documentary evidence for the dating of the stone wall of
Shrewsbury to the second and third quarters of the 13C, with subsequent repairs
dovn to the 170. The existence of an earlier reampert of earth and timber is
probable but its extent and position have not been determined.

The 13C wall cen be traced along the scarp behind Pride Hill curving down
tovards the site of the present excavation and terminating sbout 20 yards from
1t in Shukers' warchouse, where it still stands to a helght of some 15 feet.

The portion of the wall uncovered on the Roushill site rung parallel to
Merdol towords the Welsh Bridge, at an angle of approx. 120° to the Pride Fill
section, but wlortumately the junction lies under the present road. This
prevented the exemination of the site of the Soushill Gate, which appears on
Burleigh's map of the late 16th century. :

The area outside the Roushill and Merdol walls is known to have been a
mersh until drainage in the 180, This is reflected in Tthe fact that the house
inside ond on the wall was a half timber building of the 7160, whereas that
on the outside was a brick house of the 180, (1).

This 18C house had been tuilt imnediately above a cohbled surface (a yard,
or perhaps a road) which sbutted the wall., 3'3" of leyers of varied £illing
separated this cobbling from a pebble surface laid on sondstone rubble set in
clay. This surface, which seems to have beon o road or path, is datable to the
mid 1.0, A foot below this a very campaoct pebble zurfsace had been laid on the
natural clay a little below the level of the footings of the wall, and extending
along its length. This surface was presumably laid for the transport of stone
and for ease of working on the construciion of the wall,

In front of this hard pebble layer and six feet in front of the wall %he
clay hed beer cut to form a low bank with a verticsl outer face = foot high.
Beyond this the clay had been cut in a slope of some 359, an angle which seems
toc shallow for a town ditch, but may represent the deliberate scarping of the
bank in order to allow the marsh to flood more cagily up to the wall. The
natural surface was still sloping downvards vhen the present road was reached
17' in front of +he wall. Whatever the cxplanation of this gently sloping
scarp, it is clear that it hes alwavs beon waterlogged, since layers of black
clay and silt lay immedistely sbove the natural clay, to a depth of 5' at the
lover end of the trench. In addition, throughout these layers, cvery kind of
vegetable matter, twigs, leaves, seeds, and pieces of woody. had been preserved
together with considersble quantities of leathor. idost of the leather was
found in peaty leyers which lay near and at the top of the siltinge There was
an almost complete shoe of medieval type, two sdult size soles, and a sole of
a shoe of a child of sbout 2. All these had been vorn. There were also &
great many thongs, points and offouts. The shoes and the leather debris were
assoclated with pottery of the late 13=sarly 140, (2). Since they were near
the top of the silt layers, these must have been depesited fairly rapidly
during the 50-75 years after the building of the wall. At the top of the silt
was a thick layer of vegetoble ond other debris which has the appearance of
being the deposit from an exceptional flood, Since it is about 20 fest sbove
the present nommal river level, and floods of that height have been recorded,
this is not impossgible. :

(1) The prrebable line of the wall can, in fact, be traced along Mardol at the
Junction of half-timber with 18C brick buildings. The line is almost
paralicl to Hardol and sbout LO' from the shop fronts,
(2) Tarming and leather working were chief industries in medieval Shrevebury,
A charter was granted to the Curriers in the late 148, and it seems likely
that leather dressing mnd working have gone on continuously from the 130 to
the present on Roushill just as tenning hes gone on in Darker street until +his year.



The woll itgelf was rubble built, faced on the outside wWlth coursed dressed
red sendstone, and on the inside with coursed mizble.  The front face had a
battered nlinth, the batter being stepped. In the tienty foot length of wall
exposed, this plinth vas stepped down twice in order to conform wwith the slope
of the hill. _ : '

The footings were of sandstone rubble, laid on the natural clay a littls
abeve the hard pebble surfacc already wentioned. The footings were much heavier
and more prominent at the southern, higher end of the stretcoh cxposed. It is
suggested that these heavier footings prepare for the tower or gate which is
believed to have becn immedistely south of thom. Tthey do in fact provide an
sdditional picee of evidence for the cxistence of such a structure,

At the northern end of the exposed portion the wall had been taken +o rieces
and rebuilt in ‘a rrojecting, bastion-iike structure, some of the wlinth stones
being reused on and, This rebuild mroved to De agsociated with sandstone and
clay foundations extending avay from the wall at this point, and firmly dated
by pottery to +the late 18C. A nurthor of large Postholes, one full of the ash
of its post, wers also essociated with this late bullding, and the face of +he
well had been blackened when it vwas burnt dowmn,

Behind the wall wes a ruddled clay bank extending for more than seven
foet away fron the wall, and up to the present surface, vhere it had not heen
disturbed by later building., 8Since there was a leyer of mortar between the
back face of the wall and this bank, the bank must precede the wall, which had
been built against o vertical face cubt in the clay. The clay was siterile and
undatable, and the bank nsy therefore precede the wall by only a shord time,
and may perhaps be part of a single building operstion, Oppertunity should be
taken, however, to explore the possibility that this clay bank is the remains
of an earlicr clay and timber rampart dating perhaps from the Normen expansion
of the town, '

In the clay bank had been cut s pit 8! in diameter and 8¢ deeps This still
had in its bottem a Quantity of soft grey material which is almost certainly
the remaing of lime slaked in +he Pit, and probably used for the construction
of the wall. Chemical anolysis of the meterial has shom a very small degree
of alkalinity, but this it is thought msy be due to leaching, and acidity in
the water which constantly £ills the Pits

The pit was dated by a considerable muber of gerly-mid 13C. sherds vhich
cae froam the live, and from the filling of the pit, and from a cebbled Floor
suWsequently laid over it. The coibled floor had been part of a timber building,
(one corner post support of which overlay the pit) which had been burnt. A
subsequent rebuild ingorporated part of a moulded Jerb of simple chamfered and
helf-shaft section. This rebuild itself wos of 13C or early 140 date since
only shexrds of these dates were found to withia tio inches of the present

., Surface, the floor paclking of the half thiber houge,

e |

IIE POTTERY :

- The chief characteristic of the pottery, of which some 300 pieces have
preserved, is its diversity, there being few sherds which are similar to cne
another. The medieval fobrics and glozes are mostly those cormonly met with
locally, but among the earlicst types are some sherds of thin walled, white-bodied
green glazed jugs, with a fragment of a pedostal bage, vhich can be paralleled
from Rhuddlan Castle ond from a Jug in the Collection of the Society of
Antiguaries (5) which, it is sugzested, may be derived fraom polychrome jugs and
mey . be imporiteds. There are also fraguents (from the 1ip of the bank in front
of the wall) of a thicker, light grey bodied ware, green glazed, with diagonal
ineised decoration. These fragments are also of pedestal baoscs ond may be
related to the previous examples. Though, as one would expect, there are few
fragnents of cooking pob, except fron the earliest levels, there are sone

thick ssgging bases, glaged internally, of late fabrics and from lote centoxta,

The pottery and other Finds have yet to be exsmined systenatically, and
it is hoped alsc that = pollen anclysis will be available from the veaty deposits.

Thenies are due to Messrs. Shulers Lid. for permission to cxcavate, to the
Shrevsbury Borough Council Burveyor's Department, and ilessrs. J.L. Hobbs ang
Relie James Por invalusble assistance, ond to the menbers of the Shrewsbury and
Ludiow Research Grouns and the Priory School Archacclogical Soclety without
whose help the excavation would neot heve been possible.

These thanks will be detailed more completely in the full report vwhich
+is in preparaticon.

{3) Fox & Relegh Reafords Kidiielly Castle: Archacologin, 1933




HECAVATIONS AT SMETHCOTT. By  GeS. Gamble.

The third sesson's excavetions ot Smethcott have now closed dom for the
yinter,

The site is o notte, o fortifled scttlement site occupled possitly
towards the end of the twelih century and during the first half of the
thirteenth century AJD. , '

During the past throc sensons work has been concentrated on the recomstruction

£ 4he structusl history of the sgite, It appoars that a ditch which has been
found cn the N.E., E., and 3outh sides surrownded the circular notte or mound,
on the swmit of which was a large tivber construction, believed to have been
a specisl type of tower. The exact plan of the feature has not yet been
recovered snd one of next ssason's tasks is to defins it. So far & nuwer

of post~holes, in which the laorge tirbers of the original strucsture stood,
have been found. In addition, the store foundations of what may have been
o guard house, or sone such feature are clearly visible Jjust ocutside the

ditch on the sssten side of the motle.

During the past threc seasons a large quantity of mediacvel pottsry of
the period has been found, consisting of fragaents of ordinary cocking and
tokble ware ond some hetter quality glazed vessels. :

Of great interest is a bronze ornomental plague, and 2 small ennular
silver brooch, about the size of = sixpenny picce, which is intricately
docorated with designe incorporating animals heads, and may owe something
to Celtic influsnce.

The exeavedion vill be continued during 1959 and particulars of the
dates con be obtained from G.8. Gmible, Hercourt House, Lridgnorth. Tel.:
Bridgnorth 2382,

CFEA ANTICUARTAN SOCIBTY

The report of the 0ffa Antiquarisn Socisty, Oswestry, for the years
1956~58 has recently come to hand, and the officers and Council of the
Society sre o be congratulated on a very fine ond readable account of
three yeors of voluable and active work.

The report glves o swmery of the activities of the Qewestry Research
Group and of excavations ot the Cromlech on Llanymynech Hill during 1957
and of the Bronge Age barroy at Tsgwennant, Llongadvaladr, Denbighshire,
since 1956, There is a detailed and interceting account of the pre-historic
hill=fort of Cld Oswestry with a sumicry of FProfessor Varley's lecture on
this subject, o report on the Stone Axe from Whitehaven Upper GQuarry and
also notes on various smaller finds fron thoe Oswestry repion.

The report, which occupies 24 pages of typescript concludes with details
of the excursions end public lectures crganised by the Scciety during the
poricd under review, and is altogether a mine of valusble information on
an area vhich, covering as it does severcl Znglish and elsh counties, offerg
sreat interest to thc srchacologist. The report ig avarloile to non-menbers
from the Honorary Secretary, ir. V.8, Davies, 34 Boech Grove, Oswestry. Irice
2/ 64, '

SHITIRH 30

R OSCHOCL OF ARCIABOLOGY

o Dritish Suwmer Sehools of Archacclogy have beon arranged for next
yeor by the Honcrary Director, Dr. F.T. Tailmiright. The first, from Avril
=11, will bo held at Douglaz, Isle of Men and will cover the archacoclogy of
the island fron the earliest times, with excursioms to important archaeclogicel
sites and monuents in every part of the island. Special arrangenents for
travelling to the Isle of Man vill be mode Tor membors of the School,

Of more irmodiate interest to Shropshire is the second school, %o be
held during the week Ausust 6-15, the headguarters of which will be the
University College of North Wales at Dangor. This will cover pre=historic
end Roman Toles, cnd an extrenely impressive list of leotures will e led
by Dr. Glyn Doniel and Sir Mortimor Wheeler who hopes to attend ond deliver
the opening address. ilany other distinguished scholars will be present.

Purther information on these ond other future schools can bo obtained
by writing to the Hon. Director, Dr. F.T. ‘aimmright, Ingleby, Neuport-~on~
Tay, Fife. Applicants arc asked {o glve thelr noies and addresscs clearly
in capital lettoers. ' :
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RECENT FINDS

Rotary Quern, 1Hr, J. A. Pogett, of Donnington, has reported the discovery
of' the 10Wer_stone of a rotery guern of Ranano~Tritish type found about 1653
by workmen employed by ldr. ¥.He Slater of Sheriffhales Manor, near Shifnal,
Salop, on the N.¥. side of field Wo, 536 (Nat. Grid 5J/75001265). This is -
part of en area of former woodland reclaimed by Mr. Slater and the stone

was feteched up by the Plough from a depth of approximately 10" in the course
of subsequent cultivation of the land. I, Pagett describes the stone =z a
fair, hard, congiomerate, brown in colowr (though stained in placed with tar)
and of =n average diameter of 125", he stone remaing at present in ifr,
Slaterts possession, , _

Almest as important as the recerding of new finds is the proper
investigation of old ones which have remained 3n private hands and which,
unless investigated periodically, tend to disappear on the death or removal
of their owners. In 1906 a very fine s large axe-hammer was found during
oXcavations to make a new cellar at Longnor Hall Farm near Leebotwood, and
the finder, ir, Henry Hell, retained it in hisg possession. Tt still helongs
to his son Mr. H.E. Hall of All Stretton, who very kindly recently lent it
to the Musewm in order that it might be sent to Birminghan University for.
retrological analysis, and Professor ¥.%. Shotton's report on this stone
has just come to hand. This is as follows:

"Andesitic tuff. Broken, but usually well shaped crystals of feldspar,
chiefly andesine but scme ?orthoolase, fresh; fairly numerous gragments of
rock, chiefly andesitic lava in a fine feldspathic natrix, which is penetrated
by a little epidote. Provenance: +this is not my new Group XX which I believe
comes from Charmzoods  This ash is such a general type thet I cannot suggest
anything better than cne of +he Ordovician ashes which might be either Welgh
or Lake District.”

Professor Shotton hag also examined and reported on a small axe~hanmer
from an unrecorded site on Titterstone Clee which is made of = vaguely
defined sedinentary rock, and on two stones from Yorsley Farm, AJl Stretton
which probably emanate from one of the grit bands of the Longmynd,

Another old find has recently been successfully Pollowed up cn the
suggestion of Migs L,F. Chitty. In July 1930 some stone implements found
at Garmston, in the parish of Leighton near Buildwas, were reported on by
Miss Chitty., They hag been found in March 1922 by lir. Richard Lysons when
digging up the roots of an old hedge in his gerden, and they lay about 214"
belou the surface in black, pebbly soil, all within = radive of sbout 3 yards.
The stoncs consist of = celt, a ball and a pebble with a natural cavity slightly
enlarged and we are Pleased to reccrd that Iir. Lysong daughter, iirs. Ruscoe has
kindly agreed to vlace thege in Shrewsbury Museum. Tha celt was dezcribad by
Hiss Chitty as "= beautiful axe of medium sigze with symmetricel faces well
ground end polished, but the cutting edge and the butt have been seriously
damaged and largs flakes remcved; on one side a large chip has been knocked
cffe  The special interest of these finds, Miss Chitty suggests, lies in the
foot that they are ths first associated group of stone implemnents recorded
from Shrogshire, snd the blackness of the soil suggests that they may have
been derived from an early occupation site overlooking the Severn Valley.

SHROPSHIRE ARCHARCLOGICAL, SOCIETY. The Society is arranging a Week-end Course
' in Archaeclogy, entitled "Discovering the Past",
to be held at Attinghem Park from Friday, Feb 27th +o Sunday, March 1st, and it is
hoped that members will support this. Dr. Glyn Daniel will lecture on the develop-
ment of archaeclogical ideas and on Primitive Art, and there will be sessions devoied
to Castles of the Welsh Border and aspects of mediasval Shropshire,

Great interest was sroused by the meeting at Church Stretton on Nov 18th,
when Mr. S.E. Themas of Leicester University gave a talk, illustrated with slides,
on the excavations at Smethcott. Ne rointed out that, slthough the I" 0.S. map
refers o the site as a tumilus, it is definitely not a burisal mound, and the V.g.ﬁ.
calls it more scourately o motte and balley castle. Little research and excavation
has yet been done on such gites, and the evidence produced by three years! work here
is therefore very valusble. The pottery and associated finds date nainly from the
first half of the 13th century. The very large attendance, about 140, included a
large contingent from Ludlow and a smoller one from Shrewgbury, and grest interegﬁ
was shown in the exhibition of firds, plans, photos, sections and cquipment, and Mr.
Garble and his small +eam of helpers are to be congratulated on the mesting's success.,
DPORTANT,  Merbers of the Society who wish to continue to receive this Newsleiter

are asked to sign and return to Shrewsbury Museum ihe slip which is
enclosed with this copy. Thankyou, and a Happy New Year to all our Readers!

P
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Taited by J.L. Hobbs , Shrewsbury Huseun, Castle Gates, Shrewsbury. (Tel. L551)

FECAVATICNS AT MOAT HOUSE, LONGHOR, SALOP.

In June 1958 the opportunity ceccurred for the exemiination of the moated site
mown ag Hoat House, Longnors. The excavation was not conpleted owing to bad
weather and other commitments, but it is hoped to continue work there during 1959,

The sife is a large polygonal enclosure surroundsd by a moat, largely water-
filled, with a figshpond iying to the sast. The N.%. corner of the enclosure is
occupied by a fine half~timber house of 715C date with stonework which may be
earlier on its south side. '

The gite is not thut of %he Hanor House of Liongnore This lies in the village,
:}_ mile to the west, near the subsequent 17C house, ‘

This is proosbly the site of the house of Bichard Clerk, son of Csbert de
Dudelburi, whom Richard Sprenghose, lord of Longnor, grented, between 1291 =nd 1298,
a path through certain fields to the village, and permission to widen his moat oy
twelve feet. (1), : :

SULART

4 section cut across the inner edge of the moat on the north side revealed a
stone built bank, but no postholes in a length of eight feet, Exploratory trenches
in the NJW. quarter of the enclosure Fziled to find any trace of buildings, though
one revealed a sectlon of cobbling which petercd out towards the roat edge. There
were no finds in these ‘renches,

A section wes cut across sbout a third of the width of the moab, from the inner
edge, at a poini close to the Ppresent. entrance, the only point where it appeared
to be dry enough for excavatione . . '

The moat had heen £illed 4in here during the 19C with boulder clay dug locally,
Below this was black slity earth lying on the Primary silting of blaock clay, silt
cand sand. In this primery silt beloy the clay, and therefore deposited before
the first flooding of the moat had deposited its finest rerticles, were a number
of pieces of wood, all adge out, which almost certainly represent the debris from
the comstruction of a palisads or the bridge aoross the moat.

, Pottery fram the 19C ~ 15/1AG was stratified sbove the rrimary silting, but
the silt itself was sterile. The pottery was all fragmentary and of no importance
cuizide its context. _ . :

' There were a nusber of misces of red-bodied unglazed ridge tiles with
vestigial crests, stratified in the uppermost silting with 19C potitery, which
suggests the re-roofing of the existing house during that century. :

Themks are due to Wld. Sylvester, Esq., for his introduction %o the site, to
Deie Corbotd, B@gq., for his permission to excavate, and to 21l those who helped
with the work in spite of sppalling conditions.

P.As Barker,

NEW PINDS TN SHROPSHIRE

Three new prehistoric finds have been reported in the county during the
lagt month. On March 30th, 1959, Yr. R.A. Herdy, a farmer of Broad View Parm,
Hingtock, near Harket Dreyton, picked up a flint axe~hesd on one of his Pields.
it was fownd on the surface of the second Tield west of the Fox Inne, nesr the _
‘hamlet of Shakeford, which on the line of the Longford, the road from Newport to
Whitchurch which is usually regerded as of Roman origin, The field was one which
has been cultivated for memy Years, but which has been deep ploughed only since
the lost war., The site is ncor the top of the 6" Ou8. shewt 2h NoWe and the
national grid reference is 675428/ Mizs Chitty, to whan the flint has been
bassed, hopes to get further ezpert ovinion on it and will report her conclusicns
in due course.

Not for swey fron this site, on February 2%rd, a schoolboy, Grahem Lowe of
the Lilleshell Junior School, picked up, also on the surfsce of a ploughed £ield ’
a stone axe which he fock to his Heodmaster, ir. HeL. Goodyesr, who kindly brought
it in to the Shrewsbury ilusewa. It is, according to Hiss Chithy s & fine sxample
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of a type waususl in this country, snd it may prove to belong to our Group I
classification of stone. It has been sent o Professcr Shotton of Birminghsm
University for petrological analysis » ond his report will be published in a
Llater issue. It is interesting to note that both Mr. Hordy and v, Goodyear -
who brought these implements into the Mugewn, are meribers of the local study
group which is meeting under Mr. Griffiths Trice, B.de 2t Harket Drayion.

The third prehistoric implement is a perforated stone hemmer which was
reported by Miss Chitby from a verbal report frou Hr. Beardsley of Clun, to the
April  Council meeting of the Archeeclogicsl Society. This large hammer which
weighs sbout 5% Ibs. hes been in the Posseszion of Mr. AJE. Davies of }iddle
Farm, Rorrington, Chirbury, Montgamery, for many years. Its exmct history is
cbgoure, but it is sald to have been found at Rooky Bank, Wotherton, near
Rerrington, which is aboub 3% miles NuNeWe of Brithdir Quarry. It has been
in the possession of Mr. Davies! family For many yeors and has been kindly lent
©y him to Shrewsbury Musewn so that it may be expertly examined.

In 1953 a bronze spearhead wes found on Wheathill Parm, Uckington, which
is on the Attinghem Estate. It was brought by the farmer into Shrewsbury Museum
and identified by liss Chitty s a bronze looped spearhead (clags IV) of the late
Bronze Age, approximately 1,000 = 450 B.C. This very interesting specimen was
subsequently claimed by the FNational Trust, owners of the Attinghem Estate, and
was taken %o London, where 1t was examined at the British Museur. We sre pleased
to say, however, that it hes now, through the strenuous efforts of Captain Corden
Miller, Agent to the Attinghem Estate, been returned to Shropshire and will
henceforth have a place of honour at the Attinghem Hall Adult College.

ARCHAFQLOGICAL SOCIETY NEWS.

The principal feature of -the Society's programe since the appearance of
the last Newsletter was the Archseologicsl Week~end, entitled "Discovering the
Past", which was sponsored by the Society from February 27th to Morch 1st, at
the Attinghoam Park Adult College. A most impressive array of lecturers was -
rrovided, and the week-end was a huge success, both mmerically smd from the
soclal point of view. The course attracted ome of the largest attendances of
any held at Attinghem during recent vears. All availsable tlaces at the Hall
were booked, but scme keen Archaeclogists were "boarded out" at the Miytton &
Hermaid at Atchem, while several people living in or near Shrewsbury atiended the
lectures during the day-time. ‘

Prebebly less than half of those atiending vere actually members of the
Scciety, and it ie hoped that this might be renedied in due course, but it was
generally egreed that the venture was highly successful and well worth while.
Tour editor only regrets that 2 severe attack of 'flu prevented hin from attending
this week-end, and this note is “thercfore caipiled from the views of others who
were more fortunate. The highlights of the weekwend were probsbly Dr. Glyn Daniel's
introductory talk on "The Develomment of frchaeclogical Idees" and the masterly
lecture on "The Art of the Pilgrimage Routes in the 12th Centxy™ By Dr. Georg
Zerneckd of the Courdteauld Institube of irt, but the whole course was characterised
by a geniel end friendly atmosphere. The Council has decided to repeat this
experiment in due course, but feels that it would not be wise to make i% an annual
event at the present time, the general feeling was that such a project should be
attempted every two or three years and that an effort should be made to meintain
the high standard set by this course,

Future Bvents, The Society's /nnual General leeting will be held a% the Priory
Doys School on Saturdsy, 23rd ilay, when Dr. W.H. Chaloner, Senlor Lecturer in
Hodern Econoic History ot Manchester University, will speak on "John Wilkinson",
the lronfounder, whom he has made the stbject of a detailed study. The lecture
will be accompanied by lantern slides and it is hoped that es moany mesbers of the
Soclety as possible will attend and bring thelr friends.

On Saturday, May Oth, the Society will join the Caradoc and Severn Valley Field
Club for & whole day field meeting to Alberbury, Wattlesborough and Wollaston, under
the leadership of liss L.Te Chitty, OuBeEe, Mile, Fu8.0., and Mr. S.R. Turner,
The coach will leave 8t Chad's Terrace at 10 a.me, calling ot the White JAbbey to
see the remains of Alberbury Pricry, and the Church which will described by the Vicar,
the Revs Jv iAshion. At Loton Park a tolk on the Leighion family and the house will
be given by Mre Griffiths Price, B.A., after which the picnic lunch will be partaken.
The coach will then proceed to Wattlesborough Cestle, through the Breidden Gop to
Wellaston, where the Motte and Dailey site near the Church will be exsmined, The
cost of the excursion, including tea, which will be available at the Orown and Sceptre
Inn, MNinsterley, is 9s. and merbers should be back in Shrewsbury by £e30 Pelle
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On Satuwrday, July Lth, the Scciety hag arranged a visit %o Chester, full
perticulars of which will be sent to merbers in due course, It will, however,
be a full day excursion =snd meribers will be shomm round the Cathedral before
lunch by Archdescon Burne, The afternoon will be taken up with a visit to the
Grosvenor Museum where Hr, Kelley s ‘the Deputy Curator, will expxlain the exhibits
and a tour of historic Chester under the guidance of Miss Higgins, also of the
Musewn stalf.

West idlands News~-Sheet.

We sre pleased to record and welcome the appearance of the first iszsus of

the West iidlands Annusl hrchecologionl News-Sheet, 1958, issued by the Depariment
of Extra~iiurasl Studies of Birmingham University s 2nd edifted by Brian Stanley,

34 Bebbacombe Remd, Coventry. It hopes to do on a reglonsl scale what this
Newsletter is aiming to do for Shropshire Archeeology and local history, that is,

to provide a medium for the exchange of views, recording of activities and the
results of field vork and excavetion., This first issue includes Interesting reports
- on the past years work from the various societies and research groups now operating
in the West Midlands, including the Shrewzbury group. There is also a brief report
on the Summer excavation schocls held at Wroxeter in 41958,

Council for British Archaeclogy.

The West Midlands Reglonal Group of the Council for British Archaeology,
which canprises. the countiecs of Worcester, Warwlck, South Ste ffordshire, Shropshire
and Herefordshire, is proposing to hold a Joint regional meeting with No. 5 Group,
which covers Lancashire, Cheshire snd North Staffs., in Shrewsbury om Saturday , -
18th July. The programie and details of this neeting are not vet to hand.

Roman Roadsa,

Dre AldWWe Houghton hes continued his survey of Romen roads in Shropshire
and 1s now collecting evidence for a new link betwesn Watling Street, at a
point north of Craven Arms, rumning S.8.7. through or near Ludlcow to join another
road which has so far been traced to a point a mile east of Leaninster.

Landscape Features of the Georgiszn Period.

The Georglan Group, with the anssistance of the Cowmcil for British Archasclogy,
is compiling o list of and information relating to landscape features of the
Georgian period, and we have been asked to co~cperate by compiling a list of such
features in Shropshire. Inoluded are such iters as terples, cbelisks, mauscleuss,
grottos end gatehouses, and the nature of the feature, its location with the name
of the estate and the umer, and its condition are requived. Many of these Feabures
are kmovm to be in a poor state of repair snd the information coliected will be
sent to the Ministry of Works, with a view to encouraging grants for thelr preservation
in suitzble cases under Section 3 (3) of the 1931 Act. The following list of such
Georgisn features known to exist in Shropghire hos been compiled principally by
#r, Bernerd Mason of the Nabtional Buildings Record, s=nd if readers know of any
further exarmples in the County, the editor would be pleased to hear of them.

Acton Burmell Shell Grotto Ce 1750
Aldenheam : : Entronce gates 18th C,

Chapel in grounds 18th C.
Apley Park Crangery - 184+
Aston Hall . Greek Doric gabewsy c.1780
Attinghom ClLassical Llodge 18th Ca

Gothic lodge - - ‘ ? ¥ash
Badger Hall - Temple in grounds (house demclished) ? Wyatt
Brogyntyn Gatoway and lodges K 1811%
Burford Housge Gorden House, Tuscan poriico ‘
Court of Hill Georglen Tuscan pavilion o
Culmington C Flomders! Folly 1838
Davenport House Round Brick Dovecote (by Smith of

' Trarvick) 172¢

Dowmton Hall : . Gothick lodge ce] 760

Halgton Hall Chaepel in gardens, Georglzn tower Ce 1760
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Hemks tone Conservatory (Tuscan) ¢s1820
Domed rotunda, before 178L
Complete set of garden buildings: _ -
cbelisk, hermitege, ruins, ]

sumeriicuse, ete,
Square classical Llodges

Loppington Hall - Square sumnerhouse on garden wall early 18th C.
Millichcpe Park Ionic Rotunda 1770

Onslow Hall Greek Doric lodges S 1820
Orleton Hall . Gatehouse, partly late Georgian :
Peplow Hall Wrought iron gates 18%h C.
Preston~upon-eald-moors Hospitals Llodges :

Pitchford ' Sumnerhouse in tree (Gothick) ce 1760

Tong Castle Gate, ledges, gazebo 1765 :
Vhitton Hail Folly an opposite FHill . Georgien = -
Worfield = Swancote Farm surmerhouge late 18th ¢,
Bleodwell Houge Stone Sumer House ) ce. 18th Cu
Shrewsbury - ‘ Sumer House, 12 St, Johnts Hitl

_ Gazebo, near BEnglish Bridge.
ANCIENT MOMUEENTS,

The Supplementary List of Ancient Monuments 4in England and Wales , issued on
behalf of the Miristry of Works by Hexr Majesty's Stationery Office in 195¢, includes
the following sites ang honuments in Shropshire.

BURTAL MOUNDS AND STQNE CIRCLYES,

Lydbury North » Aoton Bank Rovnd Barrow.
CAMPS AND SETTLEENTS .,

Clun, earthwork south of Rockhill.

Westbury, earthworlk nerth=-cast of ifarche Hall,
ROAN REMATNS.

Litleshall, Roman camp on Red Hill,

CASTLES. -
Diddiebury, The Hount, Corfton; Little Stretton, Minton Castle Hound;
Lydherm, lotte and Bailey castle ;5 More, motite ang bailey costle :
Quatford, motte and beiley castle ; and Stapleton, Castle mound,
OTHER SECULAR SITES AND BUILDINGS.

Eretehel Mound, Alberbury with Cardesten ; Colebatch iound;

Upper Barn moated site at Wistenstow; and moated site at Wollagton.

FUTURE EXCAVATIONS.

Both the Shrewsbury and Ludlow Archaeclogicsal Research Groups are organising
further excavations during the Spring and Sumer. The Shrewsbury Greoup hopes to
include sites at the Moat Houge, Harlescott, a Motte ang Bailey site at Pontesbury,
and Broeckhurs: Castle, near Church Stretion s While there is a possibility of a
further dig at Roushili Walls in Shrevisbury where further demolition is taking
place. These will be held om alternative week-ends, with a week's excavation
in the Sumer, and ss far a5 possible the dates will not overlzp the week-ends
when the Ludlow Group will continue their excavations =t Smethoott, which will
be assisted by some members of the Shrewsbury Group. Anyone interested in helping
in these excavations ig invited to get in touch with Mre Puhs Barker of Church
House, Anscroft (Tel. Hamwood 297). The Ludlow Group at Smetheott would also
welcame furthor assistance ang velunteers are asked to contact ¥Mr. Q.5. Garble,
Harcourt Houge, Bridgncrth, :

The Ludlow, Ridderminster and Bridgnorth Groups working jointly under the
direction of i, Gelling, will be investigating Caynhanm Camp, Caynham, near
Ludl o,

In addition to the Sumer Schools which will agasin take place during the
Summer wider Mr. Qrahem Webster, a very interesting course on Mediewvsl Archaeology
Will be held at the Field Studies Centre at Preston Montford from 11%h - 18th
Julys The course will be directed by Mr. Brian Hope~Taylor, FeS.A., Archasological
Consultant to the Winistry of Works, and will be based on the excavation of a .
selected medieval site in Shropshire, which we undersfand may ke that at More,
near Linley. During this oocurse there will be lectures on aspects of medleval
archasology, visits o gites and museuns in the neighbourhcod, and. training will
be given in excavation techniques.
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HJEdited by JeL. Hobbs, Shrewsbury Museum, Castle Gates, Shrewsbury.: (Telf L551)

EXCAVATIONS AT BROCKHURST CASTLE, CHURCH STRETTON
S0 L7925

The Shrewsbury Resesrch Group intends a short excavation at Brockhurst
Castle, Church Stretton, in the hope of cbtaining a series of sherds of pottery
which will precede in date the series from the Town Well excavation at Roushill.

Brockhurst was a Royal Castle, first mentioned in 1154, and apparently
dismantled a 1ittle before 1255, : o

It is intended to begin work on the site on Saturday August 1st at
2 pem., and to coentinue work each day from 40,30 a.m. until Sunday 9th August,
omitting Saturday 8th August. Thersafter, work will be intermittent, on one
or two daoys a week, depending on the availability of members of the group.

ADVANCE INFORWATION ABOUT THE DAYS ON WHICH WE SHALL WORK Gl BE

OBTAINED BY RINGING HAINWOOD 297,
The site is epproached from the ALY Shrewsbury-Ludlow Road over a
srall reilway bridge leading to the field below the Castle. Cars should be
left on the grass verge. Please shut all gates. PFor further information
please contact P.A. Barker, Church House, Annscroft, Shrewsbury. Tel.: as above.

EXCAVATIONS AT LEINTWARDTIVE, HEREFORDSHIRE.

Volunteers with or without experience are required for an excavation
to be directad by Mr. S.C. Stanf'ord, B.d., under the auspices of ths Woolhope-
Naturalists! Pield CIub, Woolhope, Leintwardine, from 25th July to the 14th
August inclusive. 4 trial trench in 1958 across the northern defences of the’
Roman site of Bravonium at Leintwardine indicated the site to be that of a
permanent fort. This year it is hoped to elucidate some of the outstanding
problems of the defences and +o explore the north-western part of the interior.
The site is 4in an orchard behind Chantreyland House at the north-western corner
of the village (S0. 4O4742). The nenpost railway stotions are Ludlow (from
Hereford and Worcester) ond Bucknell (from Shrewsbury). There dare buses from
Ludlow, transport from Bucknell by arrengement. Hotel and private accommodation
is available in the village, but o camp will be organized on the site, whers _
tents, beds, etc., will be availoble. Enguiries should be sent to Mr. Stanford
at Brockington Grange, Bredeunbury, Bromyard, County Hereford.

' SHROPSHIHE ARCHAEOLOGICAL SOCIETY NOTES

The Council has received with regret the resignation of Mr. J.B. 0ldhean,
Meho; FoSehe, as Chairman of the Council. Mr., 0ldham had been elected to the
Society in June 1910, hed served on the Council for many years, =nd had been
Chairman since June, 195, and the Council resolved to pince on record
its deop appreciation of Mr, Ol¢ham's long and valued services. Councillopr
Mrss CuEe Thickpenny waos unsnimously elected %o the Chasir in place of Mr. Oldham,
ond Mr. G.W. Rogers wos elected Vice=Chairmaon. o

It is proposed to hold an exhibition of archaeology in the Shrewsbury
Art Gollery for one wesk during March 1960, and a Sub=Cormittee consisting of
the Chadrman of the Council, Mr. Groham Webster, Mr. P. Barker, Mr. G.S. Gamble, .
Hr. Poget and Mpr. J.L. Hobbs, was formed to make the necessary arrangements.

The Soeciety's Annunl General Meeting was held ot the Priory Boys
Grommor School, Shrewsbury, on Saturday, 23rd May when, after a short business
meeting, members heard s lecture by Dr. W.H. Chaloner of Yanchester University -
on the Wilkinson family. Dr. Chaloner, who has made o special study of John
Wilkinson, the Shropshire Tronfounder, illustynted his talk with lantern slides.
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On the 4th July about 30 members went on a whole day excursion
to Chester. They were met at Chester Cathedral by Archdeacon R.V.H. Burne,
WeAe, Chairmen of the Chester and North Wales Archaeological and Historic.
Society, who took members on a delightful conducted tour of the Cathedral
and its precincts, terminsting in a pienic lunch in the cloistered garden
by the river. After lunch meumbers proceeded to the Grosvenor Museum where
Mre DoBe. Kelly, Assistant Curator, gave a comprehensive illustrated lecture
on "Roman Chester", setting a background for a tour of the Museum built up
by Mr. Grahem Webster and so strong in Roman material, which followed.

Mrs. K.M. Higgins, a city guide, then tock the party round the Norman
Church of St. John the Baptist, and other placed of interest in the city.
The weather was very wern, end tea at Bolland's Cafe was very welcome and
ended a very delightful day's outing. .

CAYNHAM HILL FORT.

During June members of the Ludlow and Bridgnorih Archaeoclogical
Groups, with students from Birmingham University, working under the directionm
of Mr. PeS. Gelling, Mef., Lecturer in Archaeclogy at Birmingham University,
have excavated the prehistoric hill-fort at Cayham, 2 miles east of Ludlow.

The fort covers an area of at least 10 acres on the top of a hill
and is surrounded by tremendously steep ditches cut through the sheer rock..
The excavation, therefore, involved a great physical effort, not without its
attendant dangers, and Mr., Beaumont, who had visited the camp while exeavations
were in progress, was most impressed with the manner and methods of the
excavation and considered that all the workers ought to be comgratulated.

© The site is of immense archasclogical significance, and there may
be from five to ten years! work to be done before excavations can be
satisfectorily completed. At the moment four periocds of reconstruction have
been very tentatively identified and photos and coloured slides made of the
various stages of excavation. A very fine inturned entrance was traced and
this will be excavated next year in the hope of finding occupation material
within the fort. We lock forward to sesing the interim report which Mr.
Gelling hopes to produce in due coursé for the Society's Transactions.

Digging has started again at Smethcott on July 19th, and some
further interesting discoveries have been made. Further volunteers are
needed, and are asked to contact Mr. G.S. Gamble at Hercourt Grange, Bridgnorth.

ROMAN FTINDS AT ATTINGHAM. By Dr. A.W.J. Houghton.

Roman pottery of early date, roof tiles and fragments of plaster have
been found during recent weesks on a raised sandy area, perhaps two acres in
extent, S. of Ternbridge at Attimgham, bounded on the E. by the Tern River just
above its confluence with the Severn and on the S. bty the Severn itself. To
W. end N. is a low lying marshy area presenting the appearance of once having
been a branch of the Tern and which may thus have formed a ditch. Now-a-days,
in Winter this area is often flooded. The site therefore, in Roman times, might
have been a small pleasantly situated island. -

Artefacts have been found at an average depth of 1-2' below the grass
line in the Severn bank. They are first found et a point roughly 30 yards W. of
the Tern-Severn confluence and then extend upstream for about 70 yards. Mole-
hills over most of the area contain tile, plaster and pottery sheards including
sand-faced ware, black burnished and course black ware.

A resistivity survey is at present being carried out and = physical
survey will next be undertaken. It is hoped that permission to excavate. this
site will be granted. It is possible that this is the place referred to in
BeM. Parkes' M3S8. addit. 21,011, p. 37, where it is stated that on 8th February
1798 between the Tern Bridge and the River Severn at Attingham a Romen crematiom
burial was found at little more than plough depth under a flat stone. The
objects discovered consisted of several glass and pottery urns containing
charred bones and ashes. J. Corbet Andersonm, in his book on Viroconium,
published in 1848 notes this reference but does not state whether further
investigation of the area was ever cerried out.
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The "Chemistry" af Whitchurc'h. By Wehs Silvester, M.Sc.

. Three-~guarters of a mile west of Whitchurch, Jjust north of the Wrexham
road, is 'Chemistry?, now almost a patch of suburbia, but shown on the 0.9,
‘one-inch map of 1833 as a building by the side of the cansl.. In the Salop
Dirsctory of 1828, published by Tibnam at Shrewsbury, one reads that at
Whitchurch there was a manufactory of "oak acid", and that Hassall and Company
were pyroligneous acid manufacturers. Lewis's Topographical Dictionary, 5th

~edition, irndicates that there was gtill in 184 "an esteblisiment for maling
oal acld", but to judge from Bagshaw's Directory of 4851 it was by then extinct.

The remark will be made here that "oak acld" appears to be contemporary
slang: “pyroligneous acid”, to be found in contemporary chemistry beooks, is
still a well-known name for what was spoken of. Actuslly there are, at the
place indicated sbove, still some remains of buildings to confirm what is depicted
on old meps, but various oral and other enquiries (including some kindly made
oy Mr. Hobbs, who also consulted Mr, H. Ulayton, Clerk to the Whitchurch U.D.C.)
produced no more historical information. To sane regidents at least in the
town the place~name is an amusing local mystery.

However, 11 is a reasonsble inference that Hassall and Canpany,
making pyroligneocus acid in 1628, had their factory at the "Chemistry"
shown on the map of 1833. It is also reasonsble, on a genersl Imowledge
of the histery of the chemical industry to regerd the nsme "Chemistry" as
applied to a factory as an esrly form of nomenclature,

i point of fact, the "Chemistry® at Whitchurch was not unigue.
Also cn the earlisst edition of the 0.8. one-inch map = for the Flint and
old district - one finds a “Chymistry® showm, three-guarters of a mile south
of what was still Xing's Ferry.. The building shown was later cut of f from
its roadway to the river by the reilway, but the building and the neme were
kept on the O.8. maps until 1892. On the 0.S. map of 1908 the name had gone,
and the building may not heve survived the 191418 War, there having been =
large liinistry of Munitions explosives Tactory at Queen's Ferry. ‘

According to Lewis's Topogrephical Dictionary of Wales, 3rd edition,
1844 (under Hawarden) a laboratory for the maling of Glauber salt, sal
amnoniac and ivery black was estoblished in Saltmey in the year 1781, and
was then (1844) conducted on an extensive scale, but for the mamufacture of
ivory black crly. Ivory black, it should be said, is a superior foim of
bone charcosl, not necessarily made fram ivory. It iz still listed by
artists' colour makers. o

The technical chemistry of what was being done at the outset is
sufficiently indicated by an earlier account, and from that it can be deduced
that ivory black had becane the sole remunerative product between 1822 and
184Y..  According to VA Memoir of Hswarden Parish", by 'A Parishioner!
(Chester, 1822) a lir. Tharp, a button memufacturer in Chester, erected thé
Chemistry on Seltney mersh in 1780, and sent his refuse of horn and bones there.
'Destructively distilled', these gave what would now be called a crude smmonium
carbonate and a charcoal, ground down to give ivery black. Details of the
technology - Minish's process - can be found in Ure'ls Dictionary of Chemistry,
Lth eds 1835, pe 15he At that time {1822} the manufacture continued "+o a
considerable extent®. L '

- In the indicated period - 1822 %p 1844 = the manufaciure of sal smnoniac
from button mekers' waste had becane unremunerstive because cheap ermonia had
becane availsble as a by-product of the rapidly expanding coal-gas manufacture
(Foulton and Watt's works a% Birminghsam lighted by coal gas in 1798; Phillips
and Lee's cotton mill at Manchester in 1805). One sees, in a historical
perspective, the cbzolescent little retorits near Queen's Ferry being kept in
work for o time on sales of black pigment, but finally going for scrap.

Now, as will have been noted, it was the 'Parishicner' of lawarden who
first put into still extant print the word "Chemistry" as a name for a building,
etc. Ordneance Survey mops and lotél speech provided for preservation. It is
reasonable to suppose that preservation at Whitchurch of the plinco-name
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implies a siailar history, L.e. the "Chemistry® at Whitchurch wos originally
built in the 1780-90 period, also to work Minish's wrocess. When such -
working hed become unremunerative, &n effort was made to keep the retorts,
etc. in services the change was to wood distillation, prcbsbly with use of

s local supply of oak trirmings. T+ con at least be said that when llessTs.
Hassall were making pyroligneous acid the marked for that acid was expanding;
o mein use for it was in dyeing and calico printing, to make mordants. But
in a world of 'lanchesterism' this attempt to keep an old plant in werk hod
no lasting success. Defore the Greatb Exhibition of 4651 its carser was ended,
and now, Lhree generations later, there renains ot Whitchurch 1ittle mere then
a nome to puzzle, er at least to amuse, the passer-by. Dut possibly, in some
Lencashire srchives, there are still sonme records of business done.

LANDSCATE FEATURES OF THE CEORGLAN FERIMD.

The list of Ceorgian featurss in Shropshire which eppeared in our last
issue hag brought correspondence fron several peopvle who have added further
exomples to the list, and the following supplementary list is thersfore printed
as a record, with sincere thenks to those who have supplied the information.

Burferd, Burford House. The Sumier house in the garden of Burford House is
dated 1728, It consists of fcur Tuscon pillars and pediment and bears
the shield of Tillism Bowles, proprietor of the Vauxhall glass works

(See Country Life, December 13947

Creven Arms. lidlestone in the form of a stone cbelisk, about 20! high, with
mileages to chief towns and oities, such as Edinburgh, York, etec.
Late 18th cent.

Havkestone. There sre two gazdbos in the park to the east of the Hall.
iso to the east, beyond the terrace, is a Long avenus of trees, terrid-
nating at ench end in a domed gazchbo, with open~columned sides.

Hodnet. Dovecote at Home Farm, Hodnet ilall. Brick goble with stone facings
snd messive stone doorway, surmounted by three arches, over the centre
of which is insoribod Tuie 1656 L.  (Scheduled)

Tudlow. Cazcbo in garden of no. 27, Broad Street. Hid. 48th o, Iwo storeys,
finished with battlements and wrought ilron weather vane. ' Gothick!
traceried window on first floor with pemels of 17+th ¢s enamelled glass
shields of arms, '

ouatford Castle. Hock fortalice of red sandstone and brick, probebly built by
Johm Smallmen, as a residence, ce 13830, :

Shrewsbury. In addition to the gazebo mentioned near the English Bridge, two
further examples are nobed:

4} & gozebo on Town Walls, port of & house which is now empty and which

nmay be demolished to widen the paluisie

2) Gazebo in grounds of Quorry House, cverlooking the Quarry. 19th cent?
Tong. The Tower, Tong Kncll. 19%h cent. gazebo in Western Bark.

DISCOVERY OF OLD PUMP, '

During work on open-cast coal workings on Horsehay Commonn (WG
149/672080) the mechanical diggsr brought wp the remains of a pump, which
had probably been used te clear the sump of one of the old mines which are
so rumerous in this area. The pump hos several unique features, one being
that the main pump housing consisted of a solid piece of wood, about 3' high
x 12" square, through which the pump shaft had been drilled. The plunger
was also wooden with a leather washer, the clapper. valve being the only
metal part. No trace of the overhead gesr was found, but the remaing of
a bucket, alec wooden, were found in associstion. The pump has been passed
on to the Coslbrockdale Company (41lied Ironfounders Ltd.) for inclusion in
the Museum which is to be installed at Coalbrockdale to commemorate the 250th
anniversary of the founding of the Company in 1709.




Deceriber 1959, ‘ No. 9

SHROPSHIRE NEWSLETTE R,

TBdited by J.L.Hobbs, Strewsbury Huseun, Castle Gates, Shrewsbury.  (Tel.52255)

EXCAVATIONS AT BROCKHURST CASTLE, CHURCH STRETTON.

S: 0. 407925

(See Shropshire News Letter No.8)

This short excavation is nearly concluded. The purpose of the excavation
was to obtain stretified datable pottery of the period 4150«1250, and a good
series of cooking pot rims and body sherds, and a few glazed sherds, including the
foot of a tripod pitcher, have been found, the majority in sealed deposits. '

The section of the ditch between the baileys showed that it was
originally V-shaped, 40 feet wide and 14 feet deep, cut in the natursl boulder clay,
which here overlies the gravel. This di%ch section disappointingly produced only
one sherd, but, on the other hand, revealed thet the ditch hed been recut and
immedistely filled with massive debris and burnt tinmber. The violent destruction
of this part of the costle is the obvious interpretation, but more work will be
needed before this can be proved. : :

The main, southern, bailey hed had a massive curtain wall, 6 feet thick,
which had been robbéd completely away,- the debris round about showing that it had
been built of Longmyndian shale, imported to the site, presumsbly from the hills
oppesites Behind the wall were the remains of tirber structures, from which most
of the pottery cams. Two nmassive postholes, presumably of the bridge which
spanned the ditch and led into the main bailey, were found on the upper slope
of the sesrp of the ditch, and shallow postholes of a timber palisade were found on
the rin of the outer bailey. '

A full report is in preparation.

Thanks are due to Lt.Col. J.H.Gibbon, R.f., owner of the site, end
Nr.P.Prince, the tenant, for permission to dig, and to those members of the
Shrewsbury Research Group and the Priory School Archasological Society who gave
their help in spite of the heat and the dust.

_ ' ' - Pu.A. Barker.

A A3th CENTURY WELL AT LOPPINGTON, WEM.
_ Seds: 16929 e :
In the niddle of September ¥r.Roy Burden, son of 'J.E.Burden, Esq., Church
Farn,  Loppington, was cutting a drain in'a field a quarter of a mile N.E. of the
village when he fell into & hole full. of mud, which proved to be a timber lined well
of nedieval date. . o ' ' C '

The well was five feet fleep from the present surface, but little more
than three feet deep from a layer of cobbles which adjoined it on the west side.
It hed been lined with & section of the trunk of an ook tree which had been hollowed
out end trimmed with an adze. It had been packed on the outside with clay and -
stones and nore massive sections of trunk. The bottom of the well had been packed
with stones, set in the natural subsoil, and a triangular section had been cut out
of the base of the timber lining in order to allow water to flow in from the
ad jacent spring. :

The well was cleared and Mr.I.Cureton-Jones and Mr.R.James. sow it and
collected a quantity of pottery and waterlogged wood from the filling. The writer
collected a number of sherds from the undisturbed sandy silt at the bottom of the
well and these show positively that the well was in use during the 13C, and probably
early in that century. A great deal nore pottery was obtained from the vicinity
of the well and, although it has not yet been closely examined, it appears that the wsll
was in use from about the end of the 42th century or the beginning of the 13th century
into the 14th century but not beyond. Almost without exception the sherds were from jugs,
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a large proportion of then glazed. . It seems extrenmely likely, therefore, that -
there was a house nearby during the 43th century, but that the well, and perhaps Vs
the house, went out of use during the 14th century, and it mey even be that the
village of Loppington itself shrank or moved at sbout this time, the present

village of fine half-tirber buildings dating from the 15tk or 16th centuries. This

' is purely conjectural, and the history of this village clearly deserves further
attention. -

THE FINDS.

The pottery included large thurb-pressed bases and s number of glazed
slashed handles of typical 13th century type. The fabrics renge from rather
sof't sandy fabrics t¢ tueh harder fabrics typical of the late 13th and 14th
centuries, In general the softer fabrics were found at lower levels than the
harder ones; one hundred to one hundred and fifty years could reascnably span
. the range of pots represented. : ' - : - :

The wood frop the well £illing had been worked with the adze and in two
places drilled to take pegs. The four pieces preserved seem to be the debris fronm
& simple hoist for a bucket, a groove worn by the rope being clearly visible on

. one plece. There seens to have been no sort of winch and, indeed, one would
herdly be necessary in so shallow a welly - ‘ :

The most interesting £ind was nade when Mr.Burden wes consolidating
the well in order to cover it up. One of the pieces of wood which had been
used to pack the sides of the well proved to be the remains of an caken shovel,
the handle of which had been sharpened to a point, when it had been thrust
point dewnwards into the soft clay round the well. It is rather like a Gargantuan
wooden mustard spoon and must have been extremely clunsy. to use.  Since it was
incorporated in the structure of the well when it was built,the shovel pust date from the

late 12th or early 13th century. Steps are. being teken to preserve it.
| A full report is being prepared.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks are due, first, to Mr.Burden, who recognized the importance
of the find and gave every facility and sncouragement for its investigation, _
and to Mre. George Parry who reported the find to Mr.Curcton~Jones. MNr. Cureton=-
Jones photcgraphed the well and the shovel and gave very valueble assistance
throughout. Thanks are due also to a smaell teem who, in very unpleasant weather,
investigated the possibility of a house being close by, and, in proving that
there was not, found a great deal more pottery. P. A. Barker.

. SUMMER SCHOCLS AT WROXETER, 1959.

. Mr. Grahem Webster reports that a very successful series of summer schools wag
neld at Wroxeter this summer, in the course of which some more of the large plunge -
bath was uncovered. This iz now seen to be 25 feet wide internally. The main
walls are two feet thick, which suggests that it may have been without a roof.

It seems to have gone out of use before the end of the ocoupation as some of the
stones have been removed and the area then used as a rubbish dump. Work was also
carried out on the eastern range and although there has been considersble 19th century
investigation in this area, there is good prospect of working out the chronclogicel
details of the various building phases ss the Remen levels to the east of the
building are almost completely intact. ' ' - '

The fragment of a militery tombstone recorded in V.C.H. (Shropshire I, p. 2L5;
CeIele 157) but missing for many 'years, has now been loceted in Mr. C. Hverall's ‘
gerden and he has kindly given it to the site Museum. The River Severn was
exceptionally low this year ancd the stones on the river bottam were examined.

- Many were found to be dressed and may well have come from the Ramen town wall.
The only sculptured exsmple was a much battered relief of a male head and upper
torsc which was probably part of a tanbstone and may have been re-used in a
reconstruction of the dafences. I o ‘
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WROXETER AND TARCHESTER = STCNE SHINGLE ROCFING.

By W. . Silvester, M.Sc., F.S.4u(Scot.)

The stone roofing shingles, also called slabs or slates, found at Yesrchester
are (of. Shropshire Newsletter no.2) of the same micaceocus fissile sandstone,
and of the same average size and th:.clmess, as those found at Wroxeter (see
the re-assembled rocfing on fremes in the Remen Museum a.t Rowley's House,
Shrewsbury and the site museun at Wroxeter).

Although a few are large and others specially cut for saves, eto. the bulk
is wniform: sbout a foot long, 9% inches wide, and sbout £ inch thick, The
average welght, on eight entire specimens of these dimensicns from Yarchester,
is 5 1b. 2 ozs. The coverage per shingle cannot have been more than sbout
36 4. inches, so that a sguare yerd of roofing would have needed about 36
shingles. The welght of such a covering is sbout, on the lowest estimate,

180 1b. per sq. yard.

Thus if transport frem quarry to building site was by mule or pack-horse
and pannier (m. Fiiny, Watural History, VIII, 68-9, and Carcopino, La Vie
quotidienne & Rome, Paris, 1939, P69 = Enéln.sh trans. availsble) one mule load -
two panniers at about 1% owh each = would cover sbout 2 8qe yards of roof and
the 20 £t. by 20 ft. over the *mosaic'! rom at Yarohester would need sbout 22
mule loads.,

In 1908 Haverfield (V.C.H. Shropshire) said that at that time less than cne
hundredth of the town area of Vircconium had been uncovered. Even now, after the
extensive excavations of Bushe-Fox and Atkingon, on the west side of the presen‘s
road, and other digging, the explored area is only sbout one twentieth, i.e.
about 8 acres., In Wright's excavat:.ons 80 meny stone shingles were tumed up that
he could speak ("Uriconiwm", p. 212) of roofs sparkling and glittering in the sun.
And stone shingles had been used on buildings on the west side of the road .
(Bushe=Fox, 1912 Repcrt, ppe 5,7,12; Atkinson, p. 109), perhaps in the third
century, perhaps originally earl:.er.

If Vircconium housing had been cia.str:.’outed no more densely than that at
Silchester (plan reproducéd in Sir C. Fox's 'Personality of Britain') then there
would have been up to eight zcres of roofing, but even if in the whole town only
one acre of roofing was of stone shingles the tctal weight of that would have
been =sbout 350 tohs, or over 2 ,000 mule loads.

For present purposes it may suffice to recken that 50% of what was quarx'led
was left behind as waste and trimmings. Then 300 tons of prepared shingles would
involve getting sbout £00 tons from the quarry face. Thug, on a £ifty yard quarry
face of a figsile bed 3 feet thick there would be in all a cuttlng back of 7 or 8
yards, arnd a correspondingly deeper cut on a narrower f‘ace. Any such guarry, even
if never again worked, might still be a present-day feature of the landscape, and
Yhere might also still be vestiges of the provisions for dwellings and transport.

It is possible thet T.0. Cantrill (Arch. Cem., 1931, v.86, D.95~ ~§) having read
Murchigon and studied (a.s has the present author) the Geologlc:al Survey maps for
mention of quarries, disregarded merely stratigraphically interesting mentions of
fissile micacecus sandstones elsewhere, and pointed to Boulden as the nearest
likely source. Here is a querry whlch was still worked for flags in 1839, but
iz now long disused., It has s%ill to be examined in detail, but specimens of '
stone already cbtained resemble clogely in texture, range of‘ colour shades, and
in some chemicel testing, roofing material from Yarchester. HNote will be made
here that Mr. LiV. Grinsell, F.S.A., of the Bristol Museum ard his colleague,

Dr. FuS. Wedlis, kindly advised, on exemination of shingle fragments sent by me

in June 1958, that the Yarchester material was not a "Pennmi" sandstone dbut

almost certainiy from Shropshire:. The Perment sendstone was used extensively for

the roof-slabs of villas and other buildings in Scmerset, Wiltshire and Gloucester-
shire. (Grinsell, Archaeology of Wessex, 1958, p. 244) - :

The use of stone sh:.ngles each fixed with one iron nail, may have been a
relatively late development in housing Roman Britain. One relevant statement
will be cited here: a 4ih century building at Margidunum was roofed with shingles
('stanc’lar&' size and shepe, but not neaily made- the stone was probebly not
eagily Worked) and Fa Oswald oould say (Nottinghem Museum reprint of a Thoroton
Socliety vaper of ‘1927) that it was a noteworthy fact that slates were only used
in the late phase of Margidumum; in the early days flange and ridge tiles were
the only form of rocfing. No anslyesis will be made at this stage of the possible
relevance of the "Devil's Causeway" and the "Romean Bank", which nsmes eppear on
the Cu3e 1" map of 1833,
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}< ROVLEY 'S HQUSE MUSEUM ~ MEDIATVAL SECTICN. -

An increasing smount of mediseval material has been found during recent
excavations in Shropshire, and the Museun is endeavouring to make a nore
repeesentative display of Medlaeval Archaesclogy. The snell rom on the Pirst
ficor hag been fitted with two dispiay oases which now contain some of the mes
:-.nteres’cing finds of this period which have been made in the coumty. '

Dura.ng the lagt month two medineval Jugs, similar in design and shape,
have been acquired by the Museun and added to this mediaeval gection. The first
was found as. long ago as 1841 when Petton Most, near Cockshutt, Fllesmerse was
being clesned sut in that year. It was drawm 'by Miss Chitty in 1923 but
subsequen*bly lost sight of for o time, but it has now been placed 'on permanent
loan' in the Museun by Mrs. Frank Devies, widow the late chief constsble of
Shrewsbury, to wham it was given. Also in the Museunm is a bronze spear-head
(Cless IV) found in the serie moat in 1825. Seversl other findg are recorded from

Petton Park and its neignbourhocd.

A similar jug was found recently during excavations on the site of the
West Midlends Trustee Savings Bank in Market St, Shrewsbiry, and. this has kindly
been presented to the Museum by the Manager, Mr. A. Harrison..

EXCAVATIONS IN SHROPSHIRE, 1959.

Ur, GeS. Garble reported to the Council of the Shropshire Archasological
Scciety that the Ludlow Group had been forced to give up this site as the land
was reguired by the farmer for arable uge. ur. Rogers saild that some concern
had been expressed at the recent C.B.A. Regionsl meeting in Birminghem that this
rmotte and bailey site should be destroyed since the farmer intended to plough
the land, and action to have the site scheduled so that excavation could procesd
at a later date was proposed. The matiter had been referred to the Shropshire
Archaeoloc;_cal Council for their cbservations. Mr. Gezble was strongly of the
opinion thet scheduling would not be in the best interests of the site or of
the Ludlow Group which hoped at somé time in the future to resume excavation
of the site. He expressed the view that such ploughing as was contemplated
would not harm +the site since the remains were at a substantisl depth. The
Council agreed to recomend to the Council for Br:.‘b:.sh Archaeclogy that the
site should not be scheduled.

Excavations during the summer by the ‘“’ell:mg'bon Regearch Group at Redhill
on the A.5. roed at Qekengates have succeeded in locating the Roman posting
station of Uxacona. We hope to include further detalls of these In our next lssue.

Mr. T. Kelsall, who farms the Woddhouse Ferm near Redhill hes presentea S 732
many interesting finds from his faym to Rowley's House Museun in Shrewsbury.
In 1946 he found a flind hoe (FC. 3/1946) and his most recent finds include a
disdoidal flint kmife, and some fwenty other flints, four fragments of Remenm &7 _
pottery, coarse ware and a fragunent of a nor'bar:.un. Several coal measure fossils,
probably thro ups from the nearby ccal workings, and some fragnents of mediseval
tiles complete the oollection. It is cbvicus that this area has a long and var:.ed
history, and it is hoped that further investigation may be possible. '

It wos reported to the last meeting of the Regional Group (no.8) of the
Council for British Archaeclogy that a new Raman marching cearip had been located
on Abcham Aercdrane. Further detedils are awaited. Excavations at More, near
Linley by the Mediaesval School under the direction of Mr., Brian Hope-Taylor had
revealed a low mound and a palisade. i

At Leintwardine, Herefordshire, Mr. Stanford, continuing his work, had
found the disturbed remains of a 1st century fort underl’y:_ng the Flav:.an fort
discovered earlier, while a new Romen fort had been discovered at the Junct:n.on of
the Tere and Clun r:.vers dbout one mile from Leintwardine.

S}RO}?SH]}?.E ARCE_L’&EOLOGI&E SOCIETY = ARCHABOLOGIGAL EXHIBITICN.

The Shropshire Archaeclogical Scciety is hoping to stage an Exhibition
of archasclogical trends, develoments and discoveries in the county which will
be held in the Ard: Gellery, Castle Gates, Shrewsbury from March 412th to 24st,
1960.  The Council would very nuch weleone offers of interesting exhibits
for this Exh:.blt:.on and also of assistance. in staging the displays and
acting a gtewords dw:':mg thé period of‘ the Exhibition.
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THE CHIRBURY EXCAVATION (4958) - . S hG 9%

By FeTo'w‘ain&?right, PhoDel, FySnAu
" Head of the Department of Anglo-Saxon Studies

in the University of St.Andrews.

Between 907 and 940 Edwerd the ®lder and his sister ABthelflaed,
Lady of the Mewrcians, built a series of Poriresses as part of their joint and
suceessful campaigns against the Denish armies in the eastern midlands. Dne
of these fortresses, built by Bthelflsmd early in 915, was @&t Cyricbyrig.
Several suggestions for Cyricburh have been put forward, but the most likely
is that it ic represented to-day by the place-name Chirbury.

At-Chirbury there is a rectangular enclosure, marked on Ordnence
Survey maps ds "Castle (site of)", and it seemed likely that this might be
Bthelflwed's fortress. To check this possibility an excavation was srranged,
spousored as an archacologieal training schocl by the University of Birmingham
(Department of Extra-lurel Studies), znd I accepted an invitation to direct the
openation. Work continued during the two weeks 12-26 July 1958. A4 full report
will be publishad in duec course, but in the meantime a sumaary of conclusions
may ‘be of interest to readders of the Shropshire Newsletter. ..

, The bank which surrounds two sides of the rectangular enclosure was
examined, and its structure was revealed. It had never besn more than a
comparatively slight rampart of thrown-up earth and stongs; there was no sign of
a8 palisade; and a smell ditch associated with it was apparently designed for
drainage rather than for defence. Thess defensive arrangements had the appearance
of being unfinished or, rather, of never having been uged, and a thorough ‘
exanination of the interior confirmed the irpression that the fortress had never
been permanently occupied. It was a disappointment that the site produced no '
late Saxon or early madimeval pottsry, for specialists urgently need evidence
of ceramic developments in the western midlands in this period.

There was no positive archasclogical evidsnce for ihe date of the
enclosure, but, for one reason or suncther, it was possible to say that it was

 not prehistoric, not Roman, not mediaeval (twelfth century or later) and not -

medern. Which at the very least leaves the door oped to the possibility that

the structure is Bthelfled's fortress. Taking other factors into acecount -
its defensive position, its relation to on ancicnt gap in the nearby 0ffa's Dyke,
its control of a mein route into (and from) central Wales, and its place in the
national system of defence devised against the Danes - it is possible to conclude
that the so-called "castle" at Chirbury is in all probability the fortress built
by LEthelfled st Cyrichyrig in $15.

Full acknowledgements will be made in the final report.

Mthelflaed Lady of the Mercians

HBthelfleed, Lady of the Merciens, mcntioned elsewhere in this issus in
connection with the 1958 excavation at Chirbury, was a figure of considersable
jmportance in this ares during the early years of the tenth century. The few facts
known about her are scattered and sometimes ambiguous, and it is not surprising that
until recently no scholar has attempted to bring them together into a coherent |
story. What smounts to the first "life of Ethelflad " has just been writien by
Dr. F.T.Wairvright, whe h2s kindly presented & copy to the Shrewsbury Borough
Library, where it may be seen. It appesrs in a volume of essays entitled The
Anglo-Saxons,cdited by Dr. Peter Clemoes (Bcwes and Bowes),_and written to honour
Professor Bruce Dickins by his colleagues, students and friends, The picture of
Bthelfled drawn by Dr.Wainwright describes her contribution to the campaigns
against the Danes, discusses her relations with Weles, emphasizes her pesition as
the leader of an anti-Norse coalition in northern BEngland, and assesses her
contribution to the unification of England.:
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* BRITISH SUMMER SCHOOL OF ARCHAROLOGY

The Bangor meeting of the British Summer School of' Archeeology,
referred to in -Shropshire Newsletter No, 6. (January 1959) was held as

Dlanned during the week 8 15 Avgust. About 300 members attanded to

hear lectures on Prehistoric and Roman Wales by Sir Mortimer Wheeler,

Dre C.B.M.Mcﬁurney, Professor WeFsGrimes, Dr. H.N. Savory, Nr. A.H.AJHogg,
Professor Tan Richmond, Professor I.Ll.Foster and Dre. Glyn Daniel.

Excursions were alsc made to all the more important archaeological

sites in North Wales and. Anglessy, and the School has been described as one
of the most successful of its kind to dates. The distinguished Yectmrers are
now re-writing their lectures as chapters in a volume to be entitled
Prehistoric and Roman Wales. This will be edited by Dre Glyn Daniel and
Professcr Idris Foster, and it will eppear in Studies in History and _Archagolcgy,
8 series of which Dr. FuT. Wainwrieht is the General FEditor.. L

In 1960 the British Summer School of Archaeoclogy will take
"The Scottish Abbey" as its theme; members will travel by coach to several
different centres and they will cover a large part of Scotland. -Details of the
1960 School will be found in the yellow leaflet distributed with this issus of the
Shropshire Newsletter. ; ' ) . ‘ .

FURTHER FINDS AT 5OPPINGTON. | o ,
. Following the discovery of a mediaeval'well with patteﬁy;and-other

finds, including an .0ld .cak spade, at Loppington, néar Wem, reported in cur
last issue, Mr. P.A.Barker states that the farmer, Mr.J.%.,Burden, hes found

in the sanme vicinity some further pleces of wood which Seém, on-a cursory
examination, to be the mould~board and beam of an ancient plough. These are
now awaiting expert exanination. Meanwhile the cak 'spade has been taken to

the Research Leboratory of the British Museum in London, where Dr. Wernher .

is to treat it and to_try to estimate its dates The well, which is in e field
known as Tan-pit field, is probably of a date earlier than 4350 end was perhaps
associated with & mediseval house or a4 small hemlet in its vieinity. =~ =

ARCHAWOT.OBY EXHIBITION

' Arrangements arc going ahead for the exhibition of recent work
in ercheeclogy in Shropshirs, which the Scciety is staging at the Borough
Art Gallery, Castle Gates, Shrewsbury from March 42th - 24st. Yr. Pode
Barker has kindly agreed to ses to the organisation of the exhibition and Mr
Pares, head of the Shrewsbury School of Art has kindly agreed to help with
the lettering and layout ofbthe,exhibition.ﬁsaia&meeﬁ both with. organising
the exhibition and with the arrangements for stewarding during the time it
is open, will be welcomed by Vr.Barker whose address is Church House, Annseroft
Near Shrewsbury. o _ _ S

VROXETER SUMMER COURSES IN 4960.

Arrangements have been made by the Department of Extra-bural Studies,
University of Birmingham, for the ususl summer -courses in archacology to be .
held under the direction of My, Graham Webster M.A., FeSeAs, AJM,A., Staff Tu#or
in Archacology, during the summer of 1960. Students intending to participate -
in any of the courses are invited to get in touch with My.Webster at the _
University of Birmingham. The course will again be erranged at three different
levels ~ Blementary, from July 16th to July 30th; Intermediate = from August
18th to August 27th; and Advanced from August 27th = September 10th. In addition
*here will be-2 special course in iron Age Archasology and Excovtaion which _
will be direeted by Mr,Nicholas Thomas of the City of Birmingham.Museum. This
1s to be held from July 30th ~ August 13th. o

Professor F.W.Shotton's report on "New Petrological Groups, based on
Axes from the West Midlands" appsared in the proceedings of the Prehistoric -
Society volume 25, published in December 195% . 4 copy of this is available in’
the Shrewsbury Museum. ‘ S S : :
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THE RCMAN SHROPSHIRE RESEARCH GROUP.

By AJW.J. Houghton, M.B.(Lond}, M.R.C.P.

A site at Trench Fall near Wem has been examined (5716271). SAN3E
This is described on the 0.5. Map as an "encient earthwerk and no
published sccount or reference has so far been found. T+ is = rectangular
banked structure situated on a low promentory at the level of the 300 foot
contour shout one mile S. of Wem, which it overlooks. Three miles to the
east, across a tract of marshy country » is the main Deva ~ Viroconium road.
Immediately below, to the north, is an ancient water-hcle. The longest
gides are 117 yards and 11). yards long respectively and the shorter sides
6L yrads and. 73 yards in length. The corners are rounded and the longitudinsl
axls runs NW=-8E. The interior is flat and featureless and due to cultivation
the banks are ploughed down and much damaged and no certain evidence of an’
entrance ls visible from the ground though on the NW and NE sides traces of
a ditoh are to be seen. Preliminary topographical examination leads to the
tentative conclusiem that the structure is z Roman fort. :

The exemination of the Reman road from Viroconium to Whitchurch has -
now been completed. This and’all other roed work has included photography
of selected areas. The difficult stretch from Harcourt Mill to Moston has
been identified and excavated at Paper Mill Bank (557261), where an eroded
agger wes found on the west side of the Holloway leading up the slope.
At the 8. (lower end) of the Fank the road is at present being roobed for
the sake of the enommous cobbles which form the foundation. To the north
of Paper Mill Bank the sligmnment is marked by an overgrown and almost
canpletely concealed lane which goes north along the edge of Moston Coppice
and joins the Mcston~Holloway road. This lane is shown on the 4st edition.
- 0.8, map of 1832 but not on stbsequent editions. Traces of the agger are
seen to the west side of the present highroad between Linford and Prees Green.
At Sendy Lane the sncient road crossed to the east side of the present road
and 1s more easily seen when the sun is low and looking from the field towards
the meodern road.

North of the Raven Hotel the agger is of large size and runms parallel
to the weest side of the present road. This has been excavated by o party of
students under the direction of Mr, Grahom Webster, three periocds of uge
and repair being demonstrated. To the south the river crossing at Duncot
(573115), north of Atehem Airfield has beon identified and during road-
widening operations at Norton the remains of the road were found to consist
of a layer of large cobbles, the farm buildings at Norton in large part being
founded upen the cld road, the present rosd from Norton to Wroxeter winding
toc the east of these buildings. -

The road from the Wroxeter ford pessing via Meole Brace to Yockleton
and Stony Stretton has been further exsmined., Recent pipe-laying trenches 7
oppogite the Fox Inn in Cross Houses village revealed the road at a depth
of 37 feet below the present tarmec. It was 14=15 feet wide and consisted
of thick layers of gravel and ccbbles packed very hard. Thence it passed
along & line which is still a right of way over the railwsy south of Berringbon
Station and then followed a wide shallow valley to the north of Berrington'®
village, where pipe-laying operations agsin cut across it (529071).

The Wotling Strect west has been excavated in DBrompten, Cross Houses
(559077); where six post~Ramon layers were found. In the small SW ditch
a rrogment of a rim of buff-coloured egg-shell ware was found., This road
has been further exomined north of Wistanstow, where a branch hos been traged
passing by Strefford, Dinchope, Green Way cross, Onibury and so to 0L Street,
Ludlow. A working hypothesis is that this branch road is in fact a continy-~
ation of that traced by I.D. Margary from Ariconium to Ashton, south of
Wooferton (see 'Rawan Reads in Britain', I.D. Hargary, voi. 2.)

Crossing the Watling Street West just north of Craven Arms is Long Lane,
and in the angle so formed are twomtemporary marching cemps. This road has
been shown to continue on a deserted straight alignment up the hill to the
Wart Hill area, whereas the present road curves to the south to aveid the
gradient. Above Lydbury North, where a Romen figurine was found scme years
a.go (now in Rowley's House ugeum, Slwevvsbury) it is known as Stank Lane.

The rcad passes to the south of Bishop's Castle where it camences a long,
straight ascent., East of Bishop's Meat it sherply changes direction on the
suwrit of the hill.
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At Offa's Dyke excavation at three points hes shown that the Dyke was
placed across the Roman road, remains of the agger existing in a slang
imnediately West of the Dyke and on the north side of the present road.. —
Here the county and parish boundary deviatcs slightly to ‘the south, passing
through the now deserted Saxon passage. At a subsequent pericd a gap has been
cut through the Dyke thus nsarly but not quite restoring the ancient course.
At its westerly extremity, out of Shropshire, a NW branch descends to Sarn
with connections to Forden (Lavobrintm) and it is prcbable that a SW branch
vasses down the valley of the river Ithen at Llanbadarn to Castell Collen, N.
of Llandrinded Wells. Here then is a great road of military importance
traversing the Central March of Wales and establishing a connection between
the 1id Weles fortresses =md the temporary marching camp and permanent forts
in the area,Affcott (L4LB6L), Craven Ams, Bromfield, possibly Stanton Lacy,
and Leintwardine, : : :

A% Whitchurch reconstruction of the interior of Barclays Bank on the E.
side of the High Street is now taking place. Chaervation is extremely
difficult on account of the cremped conditions and excessive wetness of the
sandy subsoil. At an approx. depth of 8 Feet Toman potzherds have been found,
including fragments of a poppy-head beaker in linear rusticated ware. The
total sherds are not later than the Hedrionic~Trajianic period. At the south
or lower end of the Ifigh Street it %turns to the West into Mill Street where
demolitions have token place on the S. side, beyund which is a marshy
unoccupied area. Deop cuttings have been made for the construction of new
celiars. The stratification thus revealed has been photographed and shows
a series of tip~lines sloping fream the S. edge of the road down into the peat
bed of the marsh. The lowest ilevels produced a large sherd of samian ware
and coarse pottery, and comsisted of black, scdden debris., Above these were
two layers of stone and soil and then nbout 7 feet of black greasy material
containing large wood fragments very well preserved, but no Roman material.
The appearance was that of o town tip used continuously through the centu?ies.
Full reports will appear in the isrchaeciogicel Society's Transactions in -
due course., ;
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WELLINGTON RESEARCH GROUP. The following account of the recent activity of

- the Wellington Research Group is teken from the
West Midlands Anmusl Archaeclogical News=sheed, no 2, which has just been
published.

Atchem Airfiecld (8J 571099) This zite is a aitched enclosure, three sides

o which, together with a possible entrance, were shown on = aerisl phoio=
graph by Arnold Baker. A ssction tharcugh the esastern defences showed a
ditch with a slot in the botton. Unfortunately the rampart has been
destroyed at this point and no dating evidence was found. The crop mark and
section raise the possibility of the site being a marching camp.

Redhill. (SJ 723409) This, the prcbsble sibe of Uxacona, shows as an
enclosure on a photograph by Dr. 4. Joseph., The first itrench revealed the
foundations, 14 ft. wide, of a structure which has been heavily rcbbed.

No direct evidence of date was cbiained though sherds of Romano-RBritish
coarse pottery were found in the Pilling over the foundations. A second
trench traced these foundations 12 f£t. to the south, where a gap was followed
by a mass of sandstone - the purpose of which has not yet been found. Dr.
S5%s Jogeph's enclosure diteh has not yet been found. Tt seems possible that
the remains so far found are the foundetions of +the well of the settlement
possibly associated with a gateway, .

AERINL SURVEY. Mr. frmold Boker reporis that this senson's work has
revecled, in greater detail, a canplex of native and Ramen sites in the

West Midlends area. The gemeral patitern of survey work was followed, as in
previous yeors, with partioular emphasis on the Watling Street south of
Wroxeter. A new Roran fort was found near Leintwardine, where the crop-nark
showed stone wolls and a nearby auxiliary comp. New features showed up ab
Wroxeter, especinlly the Porum and the town defences. The Severn Walley,
particularly ncrth of Worcesier and around Dreden, showed many new sites

but Kenchesiter, Ariconium and Alcester were disappointing.




